ALLEY

Bega Valley Shire Council Zingel Place PO Box 492 Bega NSW 2550

Phone (02) 6499 2222 Fax (02) 6499 2200 Email <u>council@begavalley.nsw.gov.au</u> Bega Valley Local Environmental Plan 2013 Planning Proposal:

Reclassification of Council Land

May 2014



Contents

Part 1 – Objectives or Intended Outcomes Part 2 – Explanation of the Provisions				
				Part 3 – Justification
Lot 158 DP 1140729 Tura Beach Drive, Tura Beach	4			
Lots A & 12 DP 201599, Lot 1 DP 163768 and Lot 2 DP 91361 Mark Merimbula	et Street,			
Various Lots: Brogo, Eden, Merimbula and Numbugga				
Lot 182 DP 1100739 and Lot 2 DP 569005 Lake Street, Merimbula				
Lot 14 DP 249924 Moore Wrens Road, Tarraganda	16			
Section A – Need for the Planning Proposal	17			
Section B – Relationship to Strategic Planning Framework				
Section C – Environmental, Social and Economic Impact				
Section D – State and Commonwealth Interests	27			
Part 4 – Mapping	28			
Part 5 – Community Consultation	29			
Part 6 – Timeline	30			
Attachments	31			
Attachment 1: Council reports and resolutions for Lot 158 DP 114072 Tura Beach Drive, Tura Beach	:9 			
Attachment 2: Council reports and resolutions for Lots A & 12 DP 201 Lot 1 DP 163768 and Lot 2 DP 91361 Market Street, M	1599, 1erimbula 37			
Attachment 3: Council reports and resolutions for Various Lots Brogo Merimbula and Tarraganda	, Eden, 40			
Attachment 4: Council reports and resolutions for Lot 182 DP 110073 Lot 2 DP 569005 Lake Street, Merimbula	9 and 43			
Attachment 5: Certificates of Title				
Attachment 6: State Environmental Planning Policies	67			
Attachment 7: Section 117 Ministerial Directions	68			

Part 1 – Objectives or Intended Outcomes

The objectives of this Planning Proposal are to:

- Reclassify several Council owned sites from 'community land' to operational land' to enable the future sale, lease or development of the sites or regularise the existing use of the land.
- Rezone a parcel of land that is deferred from Bega Valley Local Environmental Plan (LEP) 2013 and a small portion of the adjacent public reserve which is also being reclassified to regularise the existing use of the land.

Part 2 – Explanation of the Provisions

To achieve the objectives outlined in Part 1, this Planning Proposal seeks to amend Bega Valley LEP 2013 in the following manner:

- 1. Lot 158 DP 1140729 Tura Beach Drive, Tura Beach
 - Amend Schedule 4 to include the land in Part 2 Land classified, or reclassified, as operational land interests changed
- 2. Lots A & 12 DP 201599, Lot 1 DP 163768 and Lot 2 DP 91361 Market Street, Merimbula
 - Amend Schedule 4 to include the land in Part 2 Land classified, or reclassified, as operational land interests changed
- Lot 11 DP 735675 Waterloo Creek Road, Brogo, Lot 1 DP 1037443 Cnr Imlay and Mitchell Streets, Eden, Lot 949 DP 810986 Main Street, Merimbula, Lot 299 DP 1151525 Snowy Mountains Highway, Numbugga
 - Amend Schedule 4 to include the land in Part 1 Land classified, or reclassified, as operational land no interests changed
- 4. Part Lot 182 DP 1100739 and Lot 2 DP 569005 Lake Street, Merimbula
 - Amend Schedule 4 to include part of Lot 182 DP 1100739 in Part 1 Land classified, or reclassified, as operational land no interests changed
 - Rezoning part of Lot 182 DP 1100739 from E2 Environmental Conservation to R2 Low Density Residential and applying a maximum height of 7.5m, a minimum lot size of 550sqm and a floor space ratio of 0.5:1.
- 5. Lot 14 DP 249924 Moore Wrens Road, Tarraganda
 - Amend Schedule 4 to include the land in Part 2 Land classified, or reclassified, as operational land interests changed

Part 3 – Justification

Lot 158 DP 1140729 Tura Beach Drive, Tura Beach



Figure 1: Subject Land - Lot 158 DP 1140729 Tura Beach Drive, Tura Beach

In June 2013 Council resolved to purchase the former Tura Beach Tavern site in Tura Beach Drive, Tura Beach with settlement in July 2013. In June 2013 Council resolved to classify the site as 'operational land' upon acquisition in accordance *Section 31 Classification of land acquired after 1 July 1993* of the *Local Government Act 1993* (see details of Council Reports in Attachment 2). However, classification did not occur within the respective timeframe and therefore the site was classified 'community land' by default.

The site is currently zoned B1 Neighbourhood Centre under Bega Valley LEP 2013. The objective of this Planning Proposal is to reclassify the site from 'community land' to 'operational land' to enable a number of uses for the tavern building including:

- Branch Library, office space, work room, community meeting room
- Covered outdoor community space
- Café/Reception space
- BVSC Community Service Programs
- Community meeting room
- Large multi-use community meeting spaces/community exhibition space
- Community offices for use or allocation to community groups
- Community work room
- Sapphire Coast tourism and South East Arts
- Meeting Room
- ICT Business incubator and office spaces

All potential uses are permissible within the zone and meet a number of Councils strategic and financial objectives. The location also meets a number of community access objectives.

This planning proposal will not change any interests in the land, that is, any trusts, estates, interests, dedications, conditions, restrictions or covenants that apply to Lot 158 DP 1140729 are to remain. A copy of the Certificate of Title is included in Attachment 5.

Lots A & 12 DP 201599, Lot 1 DP 163768 and Lot 2 DP 91361 Market Street, Merimbula



Figure 2: Subject Land - Lots A & 12 DP 201599, Lot 1 DP 163768 and Lot 2 DP 91361 Market Street, Merimbula

In December 2009 Council purchased the former Mobil fuel site in Market Street Merimbula, and resolved in March 2013 to classify the site as 'operational land' upon acquisition in accordance *Section 31 Classification of land acquired after 1 July 1993* of the *Local Government Act 1993* (see details of Council Reports in Attachment 2). However, classification did not occur within the respective timeframe and therefore the site was classified 'community land' by default.

The site is currently zoned B2 Local Centre under Bega Valley LEP 2013. Council purchased the site primarily to construct a Central Business District bypass and intersection and possible future sale, lease or development of the remainder of the site (see Figure 3 for details).

This planning proposal will not change any interests in the land, that is, any trusts, estates, interests, dedications, conditions, restrictions or covenants that apply to Lots A & 12 DP 201599, Lot 1 DP 163768 and Lot 2 DP 91361 are to remain. A copy of the Certificate of Title is included in Attachment 5.



Figure 3: Draft detailed design of Monaro and Market Street intersection

Various Lots: Brogo, Eden, Merimbula and Numbugga



Lot 11 DP 735675 Waterloo Creek Road, Brogo

Figure 4: Subject Land - Lot 11 DP 735675 Waterloo Creek Road, Brogo

Lot 11 DP 735675 was acquired by Council in 1987 and is the site of the Brogo River pump station. The land is currently zoned RU2 Rural Landscape under Bega Valley LEP 2013.

The recently gazetted Bega Valley LEP 2013 included the reclassification from community land to operational land of a number of Council owned properties. These properties were identified as they are used by Council for public facilities such as fire sheds, car parks, roads and water or sewer facilities. The reclassification was to regularise the use of land for those purposes. Due to an error Lot 11 DP 735675 was not included in this process.

To rectify this error and regularise the use of the land for the purposes of a water pump station, in April 2014 Council resolved to reclassify the property from community land to operational land by including the property in Schedule 4 Part 1 of Bega Valley LEP 2013 (see details of Council Reports in Attachment 3).

This planning proposal will not change any interests in the land, that is, any trusts, estates, interests, dedications, conditions, restrictions or covenants that apply to Lot 11 DP 735675 will remain. A copy of the Certificate of Title is included in Attachment 5.

Lot 1 DP 1037443 Cnr Imlay & Mitchell Streets, Eden



Figure 5: Subject Land - Lot 1 DP 1037443 Cnr Imlay & Mitchell Streets, Eden

Lot 1 DP 1037443 was acquired by Council in 2002 and is the site of the Eden Gateway Centre. The land is currently zoned B2 Local Centre under Bega Valley LEP 2013.

The recently gazetted Bega Valley LEP 2013 included the reclassification from community land to operational land of a number of Council owned properties. These properties were identified as they are used by Council for public facilities such as fire sheds, car parks, roads and water or sewer facilities. The reclassification was to regularise the use of land for those purposes. Due to an error Lot 11 DP 735675 was not included in this process.

To rectify this error and regularise the use of the land for the purposes of public buildings and car park, in April 2014 Council resolved to reclassify the property from community land to operational land by including the property in Schedule 4 Part 1 of Bega Valley LEP 2013 (see details of Council Reports in Attachment 3).

This planning proposal will not change any interests in the land, that is, any trusts, estates, interests, dedications, conditions, restrictions or covenants that apply to Lot 1 DP 1037443 will remain. A copy of the Certificate of Title is included in Attachment 5.

Lot 949 DP 810986 Main Street, Merimbula



Figure 6: Subject Land - Lot 949 DP 810986 Main Street, Merimbula

Lot 949 DP 810986 was acquired by Council in 2012 and is the site of the Town CBD car park. The land is currently zoned RU2 Rural Landscape under Bega Valley LEP 2013.

The recently gazetted Bega Valley LEP 2013 included the reclassification from community land to operational land of a number of Council owned properties. These properties were identified as they are used by Council for public facilities such as fire sheds, car parks, roads and water or sewer facilities. The reclassification was to regularise the use of land for those purposes. Due to an error Lot 11 DP 735675 was not included in this process.

In April 2014 Council resolved to reclassify the property from community land to operational land by including the property in Schedule 4 Part 1 of Bega Valley LEP 2013 (see details of Council Reports in Attachment 3) to regularise the use of the land for the purposes of a car park.

This planning proposal will not change any interests in the land, that is, any trusts, estates, interests, dedications, conditions, restrictions or covenants that apply to Lot 949 DP 810986 will remain. A copy of the Certificate of Title is included in Attachment 5.

Lot 299 DP 1151525 Snowy Mountains Highway, Numbugga



Figure 7: Subject Land - Lot 299 DP 1151525 Snowy Mountains Highway, Numbugga

Lot 299 DP 1151525 was acquired by Council in 1977 and is the site of the Numbugga Rural Fire Service Shed. The land is currently zoned RU1 Rural Primary Production under Bega Valley LEP 2013.

The recently gazetted Bega Valley LEP 2013 included the reclassification from community land to operational land of a number of Council owned properties. These properties were identified as they are used by Council for public facilities such as fire sheds, car parks, roads and water or sewer facilities. The reclassification was to regularise the use of land for those purposes. Due to an error Lot 11 DP 735675 was not included in this process.

To regularise the use of the land for the purposes of a fire shed, in April 2014 Council resolved to reclassify the property from community land to operational land by including the property in Schedule 4 Part 1 of Bega Valley LEP 2013 (see details of Council Reports in Attachment 3).

This planning proposal will not change any interests in the land, that is, any trusts, estates, interests, dedications, conditions, restrictions or covenants that apply to Lot 299 DP 1151525 will remain. A copy of the Certificate of Title is included in Attachment 5.

Lot 182 DP 1100739 and Lot 2 DP 569005 Lake Street, Merimbula



Figure 8: Subject Land: Lot 182 DP 1100739 and part Lot 2 DP 569005 Lake Street, Merimbula

Lot 182 DP 1100739 is zoned E2 Environmental Conservation under the Bega Valley LEP 2013 and contains an area of 1,032sqm. The site is Community Land due to its dedication as a public reserve upon the registration of DP 569005 in 1974. This planning proposal only applies to a small portion (3.75sqm) of Lot 182 DP 1100739.

Lot 2 DP 569005 was deferred from Bega Valley LEP 2013 and is currently zoned 2(a) Residential Low Density under Bega Valley LEP 2002. In the Draft Bega Valley LEP 2010, the subject property was proposed to be zoned R2 Low Density Residential with a minimum lot size control on the basis that this zone represented the best fit from the existing zoning.

The owner of Lot 2 DP 569005 is pursuing the amendments contained in the planning proposal to resolve minor encroachments onto the adjoining public reserve (Lot 182 DP 1100739) caused by an existing cottage. The cottage encroaches into the public reserve by 0.16m, the eaves by 0.42m and the property fence by 0.5m at the eastern boundary of Lot 2 DP 459005 (as illustrated in Figure 9). The encroachment occurred inadvertently during construction works in 1965.

Following a submission to Draft Bega Valley LEP 2010, on 12 June 2012 Council resolved to support the reclassification, rezoning and sale of the encroachment lands to the applicant (see details of Council Reports in Attachment 4). Figure 10 illustrates the 3.75sqm of Lot 182 DP 1100739 that is proposed to be reclassified and rezoned.



Figure 9: Lake Street, Merimbula: Subject Land Survey Certificate (More & Ryan Surveys 2002)

The portion of Lot 182 DP 1100739 subject to the reclassification is proposed to be rezoned from E2 Environmental Conservation to R2 Low Density Residential in order rectify the encroachment and permit the existing use. A change in zoning to R2 Low Density Residential is considered appropriate for the site as it will reflect the proposed zoning of Lot 2 DP 569005 and the surrounding residential land into which the portion will be amalgamated with following its subdivision and sale.

The portion of Lot 182 DP 1100739 subject to the reclassification and Lot 2 DP 569005 are proposed to have a minimum lot size of 550sqm, a maximum height limit of 7.5m and a floor space ratio of 0.5:1 to ensure consistency with the adjoining R2 Low Density Residential land (see Figures 10-13).

Any trusts, estates, interests, dedications, conditions, restrictions or covenants that apply to Lot 182 DP 1100739 will be extinguished, and reapplied to the remained of the lot, that is; the public reserve status will be removed only for the small portion to be rezoned following the reclassification to operational land. A copy of the Certificate of Title is included in Attachment 5.



Figure 10: Proposed zone - Lot 182 DP 1100739 and part Lot 2 DP 569005 Lake Street, Merimbula



Figure 11: Proposed lot size - Lot 182 DP 1100739 and part Lot 2 DP 569005 Lake Street, Merimbula



Figure 12: Proposed height of building - Lot 182 DP 1100739 and part Lot 2 DP 569005 Lake Street, Merimbula



Figure 13: Proposed floor space ratio - Lot 182 DP 1100739 and part Lot 2 DP 569005 Lake Street, Merimbula

Lot 14 DP 249924 Moore Wrens Road, Tarraganda



Figure 14: Subject Land: Lot 182 DP 1100739 and Lot 2 DP 569005 Lake Street, Merimbula

Lot 14 DP 249924 was dedicated to Council in 1975 as part of Subdivision 14/75 as Public Reserve for the purposes of public garden and recreation space of a foreshore along the Bega River.

The owners of adjoining Lot 1316 DP 1172251 require access over the Public Reserve to pump water from the Bega River. Council has entered into a temporary licence agreement to enable the owners to legally construct water infrastructure over Public Reserve to access the water from the Bega River.

In 2010 upon the adoption of Bega Valley Community Land Generic Plan of Management, Lot 14 was categorised Natural Area Foreshore, which does not permit the adjoining owners water access over Council owned land.

Council resolved in April 2014 to reclassify Lot 14 to 'operational land' as it is an isolated parcel of land with no public access except via the Bega River; however the embankment is on a steep incline making access difficult (see details of Council Reports in Attachment 3). This will facilitate the establishment of a permanent lease arrangement or possible future sale of part of the land to the adjoining owners enabling permanent water access to the Bega River.

Any trusts, estates, interests, dedications, conditions, restrictions or covenants that apply to Lot 14 will be extinguished, that is; the public reserve status will be removed following the reclassification to operational land. A copy of the Certificate of Title is included in Attachment 5.

Section A – Need for the Planning Proposal

Q1. Is the planning proposal a result of any strategic study or report?

No, the Planning Proposal results from Council need to reclassify public land to reflect the existing uses or future development objectives of Council.

Q2. Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or intended outcomes or is there a better way?

Yes, Section 27 of the Local Government Act 1993 requires that the reclassification of land be made by a Local Environmental Plan therefore this Planning Proposal is the only available means of reclassifying the subject land.

Lot 158 DP 1140729 Tura Beach Drive, Tura Beach and Lots A & 12 DP 201599, Lot 1 DP 163768 and Lot 2 DP 91361 Market Street, Merimbula.

Following the purchase of these sites, Council were unable to classify the land as 'operational land' within the respective timeframe as per Section 31(2) Classification of land acquired after 1 July 1993 of the Local Government Act 1993, consequently resulting in the site being classified 'community land'. Therefore this planning proposal has been prepared to implement Council's intentions.

Lot 11 DP 735675 Waterloo Creek Road, Brogo, Lot 1 DP 1037443 Cnr Imlay & Mitchell Streets, Eden, Lot 949 DP 810986 Lot 949 DP 810986 Main Street, Merimbula, Lot 299 DP 1151525 Snowy Mountains Highway, Numbugga, Lot 182 DP 1100739 Lake Street, Merimbula and Lot 14 DP 249924 Moore Wrens Road, Tarraganda.

These properties have been owned by Council for a number of years and the reclassification is to reflect the existing uses or future development objectives of Council.

Lot 2 DP 569005 Lake Street, Merimbula

This property is "deferred" from Bega Valley LEP 2013 and therefore a planning proposal is required to apply Bega Valley LEP 2013 and resolve the issue of appropriate land use controls for the subject land.

Section B – Relationship to Strategic Planning Framework

Q3. Is the Planning Proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the applicable regional or sub-regional strategy?

This planning proposal is consistent with the objective of the South Coast Regional Strategy to guide sustainable growth throughout the South Coast over the next 25 years. In particular this planning proposal supports the following actions:

- Economic Development and Employment Growth: The identified potential use of Lot 158 DP 1140729 as a business/ICT incubator could provide economic benefits for the Shire in terms of increasing the use of digital services by local businesses through education and training.
- Population and Housing: The identified uses of Lot 158 DP 1140729 as a branch library, community spaces and offices spaces will provide additional community services for a growing population and aging demographic. The proposed reclassification is consistent with the vision set out in the South Coast Regional Strategy to create a liveable future for the South Coast and encouraging community interaction and cohesion by providing flexibility for multiple community orientated uses for the site.

Q4. Is the Planning Proposal consistent with a council's local strategy or other local strategic plan?

Bega Valley 2030 Community Strategic Plan

The Community Strategic Plan identifies the long term aspirations of the Bega Valley Shire's community. This planning proposal supports the following key aims of the Community Strategic Plan:

- To provide safe, well maintained built facilities that meet the cultural, recreational, tourism and community service needs of all ages and abilities in our community.
- To ensure our people, freight and destinations are connected by road network that allows for efficient travel and is clearly marked. This enables travel around the shire in a way that is safe, accessible and environmentally sustainable.

Q5. Is the Planning Proposal consistent with applicable State Environment Planning Policies?

This Planning Proposal is consistent with the applicable State Environmental Planning Policies (SEPPs). The SEPPs that are applicable to this Planning Proposal are detailed in this Section. For a complete checklist of SEPPs, refer to Attachment 2.

SEPP No. 55 Remediation of Land

This SEPP introduces planning controls for the remediation of contaminated land. The policy states that land must not be developed if contamination renders it unsuitable for a proposed use. If the land is unsuitable, remediation must take place before the land is developed.

In relation to Lots A & 12 DP 201599, Lot 1 DP 163768 and Lot 2 DP 91361 Market Street, Merimbula this planning proposal is consistent with SEPP 55. This site was formerly used as a service station, however the *Final Report, Site Environmental Report (NO1063) December* 2013 indicates that the site has been partly remediated and is deemed suitable for use as a road reserve or commercial purposes providing that the site be sealed through slab construction which an operational classification would allow.

Council's records indicate that none of the other subject land is contaminated and the provisions of this Planning Proposal will not alter the existing uses of the land.

SEPP No. 62 Sustainable Aquaculture

SEPP 62 regulates aquaculture activities and aims to encourage sustainable aquaculture, including sustainable oyster aquaculture. Specifically, Clause 15(c) requires consideration of whether a proposal will have an adverse impact on oyster aquaculture.

Lot 182 DP 110073 and Lot 2 DP 569005 Lake Street, Merimbula are within proximity to existing oyster leases that have been identified by the Department of Primary Industries (August 2006) as being within Priority Oyster Aquaculture Areas. This Planning Proposal is consistent with the SEPP as it will not result in any additional development therefore there will not be any adverse impact on aquaculture.

SEPP No. 71 Coastal Protection

SEPP 71 Coastal Protection facilitates the orderly and economic use and development within the coastal zone. Clause 8 of SEPP 71 prescribes a number of matters for consideration in determining development applications for development within the coastal zone. The Clause applies to land the whole or any part of which is within the coastal zone.

Lot 182 DP 110073 and Lot 2 DP 569005 Lake Street, Merimbula are located within the Coastal Zone. This Planning Proposal is consistent with this SEPP as it does not contradict or hinder the application of the coastal planning provisions contained within the SEPP and does not promote development that will diminish or impede access to coastal foreshores, result in effluent discharge that would negatively affect water quality, or involve a discharge of untreated stormwater into the sea, a beach, an estuary or coastal lake.

The overall intent of the SEPP is to manage residential and rural residential development in sensitive coastal locations. None of the lands would be available for further residential or rural residential development under Bega Valley LEP 2013 and the types of development envisioned on these sites can conform to the requirements of Clause 8 of the SEPP.

SEPP (Rural Lands) 2008

SEPP (Rural Lands) 2008 facilitates the orderly and economic use and development of rural lands for rural and related purposes. Clause 10(3) of SEPP (Rural Lands) 2008 prescribes a number of matters for consideration in determining development applications for rural subdivisions or rural dwellings. The Clause applies to land in a rural zone, a rural residential zone or an environment protection zone. Lot 11 DP 735675 Waterloo Creek Road, Brogo, Lot 14 DP 249924 Moore Wrens Road, Tarraganda and Lot 299 DP 1151525 Snowy Mountains Highway, Numbugga are zoned RU1 Primary Production or RU2 Rural Landscape under Bega Valley LEP 2013. This Planning Proposal is consistent with this SEPP as the subject land is not prime crop or pasture land and will not enable any additional uses on the land which can significantly impact on agricultural land uses in the vicinity.

SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007

The aims of SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 are to facilitate the effective delivery of infrastructure across the State by allowing for the efficient development, redevelopment or disposal of surplus government owned land.

In relation to Lots A & 12 DP 201599, Lot 1 DP 163768 and Lot 2 DP 91361 Market Street, Merimbula, this Planning Proposal is consistent with the objectives of the SEPP as it enables alterations and additions to an existing road, changing the alignment and strengthening the road enabling progress towards the design of the Merimbula Central Business District bypass.

Q6. Is the Planning Proposal consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions?

This Section addresses consistency with applicable Section 117 Directions. Attachment 3 contains a complete list of all 117 Ministerial Directions applicable within the Bega Valley Shire.

1.1 Business and Industrial Zones

This Direction applies when a relevant planning authority prepares a Planning Proposal that will affect land within an existing or proposed business or industrial zone (including the alteration of any existing business or industrial zone boundary).

The objectives of this Direction are to encourage employment growth in suitable locations, protect employment land in business and industrial zones and support the viability of identified strategic centres.

Lot 158 DP 1140729, Tura Beach Drive, Tura Beach is zoned B1 Neighbourhood Centre under Bega Valley LEP 2013. This Planning Proposal is consistent with this Direction as it retains the area and location of the existing business zone. The Planning Proposal will enable Council to utilise the building for a number of potential uses that meet a number of strategic and financial objectives.

Lots A & 12 DP 201599, Lot 1 DP 163768 and Lot 2 DP 91361 Market Street, Merimbula is zoned B2 Local Centre under Bega Valley LEP 2013. This Planning Proposal is consistent with the objectives of the Direction by supporting the viability of the identified strategic centres by enabling development to improve traffic flow through Merimbula town centre.

Lot 1 DP 1037443 Cnr Mitchell and Imlay Streets and Lot 949 DP 810986 Main Street Merimbula are zoned B2 Local Centre under Bega Valley LEP 2013. This Planning Proposal is consistent with this Direction as it retains the area and location of the existing business zone and it does not reduce the total potential floor space area for employment uses or related public services in the business zone. The proposed reclassification of the site to 'operational land' enables Council to regularise the existing use of the land for these purposes.

1.2 Rural Zones

This Direction applies when a relevant planning authority prepares a planning proposal that will affect land within an existing or proposed rural zone, including the alteration of any existing rural zone boundary.

The objective of this Direction is to protect the agricultural production value of rural land.

Lot 11 DP 735675 Waterloo Creek Road, Brogo, Lot 14 DP 249924 Moore Wrens Road, Tarraganda and Lot 299 DP 1151525 Snowy Mountains Highway, Numbugga are zoned RU1 Primary Production or RU2 Rural Landscape under Bega Valley LEP 2013. This Planning Proposal is consistent with this Direction as it does not contain provisions that will increase the permissible density of land within the rural zone.

1.4 Oyster Aquaculture

This Direction applies when a relevant planning authority prepares any Planning Proposal that proposes a change in land use which could result in adverse impacts on a Priority Oyster Aquaculture Area or a "current oyster aquaculture lease in the national parks estate"; or incompatible use of land between oyster aquaculture in a Priority Oyster Aquaculture Area or a "current oyster aquaculture lease in the national parks estate" and other land uses.

The objectives of this Direction are to ensure that Priority Oyster Aquaculture Areas and oyster aquaculture outside such an area are adequately considered when preparing a Planning Proposal; and protect Priority Oyster Aquaculture Areas and oyster aquaculture outside such an area from land uses that may result in adverse impacts on water quality and consequently, on the health of oysters and oyster consumers.

Lot 182 DP 110073 and Lot 2 DP 569005 Lake Street, Merimbula are within proximity to existing oyster leases that have been identified by the Department of Primary Industries (August 2006) as being within Priority Oyster Aquaculture Areas. This Planning Proposal is consistent with this Direction as it does not contain provisions which could result in adverse impacts to an existing Priority Oyster Aquaculture Area.

1.5 Rural Lands

This Direction applies when a relevant planning authority prepares a Planning Proposal that will affect land within an existing or proposed rural or environment protection zone or that changes the existing minimum lot size on land within a rural or environment protection zone.

The objectives of this Direction are to protect the agricultural production value of rural land and facilitate the orderly and economic development of rural lands for rural and related purposes.

Lot 11 DP 735675 Waterloo Creek Road, Brogo, Lot 14 DP 249924 Moore Wrens Road, Tarraganda and Lot 299 DP 1151525 Snowy Mountains Highway, Numbugga are zoned RU1 Primary Production or RU2 Rural Landscape under Bega Valley LEP 2013. The proposed reclassification of the subject land is consistent with this Direction as it conforms to the Rural Planning and Rural Subdivision Principles listed in State Environmental Planning Policy (Rural Lands) 2008 and does not compromise the production value or development of rural land for rural purposes. The proposed reclassification of the site to 'operational land' enables Council to regularise the existing use of the land for these purposes.

2.1 Environment Protection Zone

This Direction applies when a relevant planning authority prepares a Planning Proposal. The objective is to protect and conserve environmentally sensitive areas.

The objective of this Direction is to protect and conserve environmentally sensitive areas.

The proposed rezoning of a small portion of Lot 182 DP 1100739 is inconsistent with this Direction as is proposes to rezone land currently zoned E2 Environmental Conservation to a residential zone. The extent of this inconsistency is, however, of minor significance due to the small area of affected land and the fact that the planning proposal will not result in any additional development as it enables the rectification of an existing encroachment issue.

2.2 Coastal Protection

This Direction applies when a relevant planning authority prepares a Planning Proposal that applies to land in the coastal zone. The objective is to implement the principles in the NSW Coastal Policy.

Lot 14 DP 249924 Moore Wrens Road, Tarraganda, Lot 1 DP 1037443 Imlay & Mitchell Streets, Eden, Lot 6949 DP 810986 Main Street, Merimbula, Lot 182 DP 1100739 and Lot 2 DP 569005 Lake Street, Merimbula, Lots A & 12 DP 201599, Lot 1 DP 163768 and Lot 2 DP 91361 Mobil Service Station site, Market Street, Merimbula are within the coastal zone.

This Planning Proposal is consistent with this Direction as it does not contradict or hinder the application of the coastal planning provisions contained in the NSW Coastal Policy, the Coastal Design Guidelines 2003 or the NSW Coastline Development Manual 1993.

3.1 Residential Zones

This direction applies when a planning authority prepares a Planning Proposal that will affect land within an existing or proposed residential zone (including the alteration of any existing residential zone boundary) and any other zone in which significant residential development is permitted or proposed to be permitted.

The objectives of this Direction are to encourage a variety and choice of housing types to provide for existing and future housing needs, to make efficient use of existing infrastructure and services and ensure that new housing has appropriate access to infrastructure and services and to minimise the impact or residential development on the environment and resource lands.

This planning proposal is consistent with this Direction. Lot 2 DP 569005 is currently zoned 2(a) Residential Low Density under Bega Valley LEP 2002 and is proposed to be zoned R2 Low Density Residential under Bega Valley LEP 2013. In addition a small portion of Lot 182 DP 1100739 is proposed to be zoned R2 Low Density Residential.

3.4 Integrating Land Use and Transport

This direction applies when a relevant planning authority prepares a Planning Proposal that will create, alter or remove a zone or a provision relating to urban land, including land zoned for residential, business, industrial, village or tourist purposes.

The objective of this Direction is to ensure that urban structures, building forms, land use locations, development designs, subdivision and street layouts achieve a number of planning objectives.

Lots A & 12 DP 201599, Lot 1 DP 163768 and Lot 2 DP 91361 Mobil Service Station site, Market Street, Merimbula are zoned B2 Local Centre under Bega Valley LEP 2013. The Planning Proposal is consistent with the Direction as it will result in amendment to street layout which will support the efficient and viable operation of public transport services and provide for the efficient movement of freight.

4.3 Flood Prone Land

This Direction applies when a relevant planning authority prepares a Planning Proposal that creates, removes or alters a zone or a provision that affects flood prone land.

The objectives of this Direction are to ensure that development of flood prone land is consistent with the NSW Government's Flood Prone Land Policy and the principles of the Floodplain Development Manual 2005 and that the provisions of an LEP on flood prone land is commensurate with flood hazard and includes consideration of the potential flood impacts both on and off the subject land.

Lot 14 DP 249924 Moore Wrens Road, Tarraganda is located within the ARI 100 year flood area. As the proposed reclassification to 'operational land' is solely to enable adjoining owner's water access, is considered that this Planning Proposal is consistent with this Direction.

4.4 Planning for Bushfire Protection

This Direction applies when a relevant planning authority prepares a Planning Proposal that will affect, or is in proximity to land mapped as bushfire prone land.

The objectives of this Direction are to protect life, property and the environment from bush fire hazards, by discouraging the establishment of incompatible land uses in bush fire prone areas, and encourage sound management of bush fire prone areas.

Lot 11 DP 735675 Waterloo Creek Road, Brogo, Lot 299 DP 1151525 Snowy Mountains Highway, Numbugga, Lot 182 DP 1100739 Lake Street, Merimbula and Lot 14 DP 249924 Moore Wrens Road, Tarraganda are identified as containing bushfire vegetation within category 1 and/or 2 therefore consultation with the NSW Rural Fire Service under Section 56 of the *Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979* will form part of the Planning Proposal process.

This Planning Proposal is consistent with the objectives of this direction as it does not encourage the establishment of incompatible land uses and appropriate development of the land can occur through the application of the provisions contained within Planning for Bushfire Protection 2006.

5.1 Implementation of Regional Strategies

Planning Proposals must be consistent with a regional strategy released by the Minister for Planning.

As detailed at Q3, this Planning Proposal is consistent with the overall vision, land use strategy, policies, outcomes and actions identified in the South Coast Regional Strategy.

6.2 Reserving Land for Public Purposes

This Direction applies when a relevant planning authority prepares a planning proposal.

The objectives of this Direction are to facilitate the provision of public services and facilities by reserving land for public purposes and to facilitate the removal of reservations of land for public purposes where the land is no longer required for acquisition.

In relation to Lot 182 DP 1100739 Lake Street, Merimbula the provisions of the Planning Proposal are inconsistent with the objectives of this Direction as they will result in the removal of the public reserve status over a small piece of land. The inconsistency is however, of minor significance given the small area of land affected and the planning proposal is to regularise the existing development on that land.

With regards to Lot 14 DP 249924, Moore Wrens Road, Tarraganda the provisions of the Planning Proposal are inconsistent with this Direction in that they seek to remove the public reserve status from the land. However, this inconsistency is minor as the planning proposal will to enable a long term lease/licence to enable water access for which the land is currently utilised.

6.3 Site Specific Provisions

This Direction applies when a relevant planning authority prepares a Planning Proposal that will allow a particular development to be carried out. The objective of this Direction is to discourage unnecessarily restrictive site specific planning controls.

This Planning Proposal does not seek to include additional uses beyond what is permitted within the land use table and therefore it is consistent with this Direction.

Section C – Environmental, Social and Economic Impact

Q7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of the proposal?

The subject land within this Planning Proposal has been largely cleared of all native vegetation to accommodate existing development and infrastructure. There are no known threatened species or communities on the properties subject to this proposal.

Q8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the planning proposal and how are they proposed to be managed?

Nil

Q9. Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic effects?

Lots A & 12 DP 201599, Lot 1 DP 163768 and Lot 2 DP 91361 Market Street, Merimbula and Lot 158 DP 1140729, Tura Beach Drive, Tura Beach are considered to have positive social and economic effects as the planning proposal will enable the provision of public services and infrastructure to cater for existing and future public demand.

Section D – State and Commonwealth Interests

Q10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal?

It is not anticipated that the development that will result from this planning proposal will create additional demand for infrastructure.

Q11. What are the views of State and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in accordance with the Gateway determination?

Consultation with State and Commonwealth public authorities has not yet been undertaken. The level of consultation will be determined by the NSW Department of Planning and Infrastructure when it makes its Gateway Determination.

Government agencies identified for consultation with regard to this Planning Proposal are:

- NSW Department of Planning and Infrastructure
- NSW Department of Primary Industry (Fisheries)
- NSW Office of Environment and Heritage
- NSW Roads and Maritime Services
- NSW Rural Fire Service

Part 4 – Mapping

Changes to the proposed map sheets will be undertaken in a suitable format for public exhibition once the Gateway Determination is issued.

This Planning Proposal will result in changes the following properties on the following Bega Valley LEP 2013 maps:

LAP_001

Amend map sheet LAP_001 by deleting DM Deferred Matter for Lot 2 DP 569005 Lake Street, Merimbula.

LZN_020B

Amend map sheet LZN_020B by applying R2 Low Density Residential Zone to Lot 2 DP 569005 and part Lot 182 DP 1100739

LSZ_020B

Amend map sheet LSZ_020B by applying K (550sqm) to Lot 2 DP 569005 and part Lot 182 DP 1100739.

FSR_020B

Amend map sheet FSR_020B by applying D (0.5:1) to Lot 2 DP 569005 and part Lot 182 DP 1100739.

HOB_020B

Amend map sheet HOB_020B by applying H (7.5m) to Lot 2 DP 569005 and part Lot 182 DP 1100739.

Part 5 – Community Consultation

The Gateway Determination will confirm community consultation requirements. It is likely that the Proposal will be exhibited for a period of not less than 28 days as it contains proposals to reclassify land.

Public exhibition of the planning proposal will include notification of on the Bega Valley Shire Council website, notification in the newspapers that circulate widely in the area (Merimbula News Weekly, Eden Magnet and Bega District News) and in writing to affected landowners.

Information relating to the Planning Proposal will also be on display at the following Bega Valley Shire Council customer service centres:

Place	Address
Bega	Zingle Place, Bega NSW 2551
Merimbula	Market St, Merimbula NSW 2548
Eden	Cnr Imlay and Mitchell St, Eden NSW 2550
Bermagui	Bunga St, Bermagui NSW 2546

In accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1993 a public hearing will be held as the planning proposal is reclassifying land from community to operational. In accordance with the Department of Planning Circular (PN09-003) the public hearing will be held after the close of the exhibition period. Notification of the public hearing in the newspapers that circulate widely in the area (Merimbula News Weekly, Eden Magnet and Bega District News) at least 21 days before the start of the public hearing.

Part 6 – Timeline

The Project Timeline will assist with tracking the progress of the Planning Proposal through the various stages of consultation and approval. It is estimated that this amendment to *Bega Valley Local Environmental Plan 2013* will be completed by January 2015.

Council requests delegation to carry out certain plan-making functions in relation to this proposal. Delegation would be exercised by Council's General Manager or Group Manager Planning and Environment.

Key Stages of Consultation and Approval	Estimated Timeframe
STAGE 1 – Submit Planning Proposal to the Department	May 2014
STAGE 2 – Receive Gateway Determination	June 2014
STAGE 3 – Preparation of documentation for Public Exhibition	July 2014
STAGE 4 – Public Exhibition/Public Hearing of the Planning Proposal	August 2014
STAGE 5 – Review/consideration of submissions received	October 2014
STAGE 6 – Council Report	October 2014
STAGE 7 – Meetings	November 2014
STAGE 8 – Forward Planning Proposal to Department of Planning and Infrastructure with request amendment is made	December 2014
STAGE 9 – Date Council will make the Plan (if delegated), including any required consultation with the Parliamentary Counsel	January 2015
STAGE 10 – Anticipated date Council will forward Plan to the Department for notification	January 2015

Table A: Approximate Project Timeline

Attachments

Attachment 1: Council reports and resolutions for Lot 158 DP 1140729 Tura Beach Drive, Tura Beach

Council Report: Planning and Environment Committee No. 20.1 – 12 June 2013

20.1. Merimbula Lands - Redevelopment Option

Presenting report on opportunity to purchase Tura Tavern at auction, for potential redevelopment as branch library, gallery, after school care and community rooms.

Group Manager, Planning and Environment

Background

Councillors have been briefed on the opportunity to potentially acquire the Tura Tavern (lot 154/DP746134, lot 157/811012: 3576m2) held by Tura Pty Limited (Receivers and Managers appointed as company in Liquidation), that is subject to auction on 13 June in Sydney, for its reuse as a public facility such as branch library, gallery, after school care and community rooms for example.

The property (constructed in 2006 by DA2004/0679) is offered for sale as mortgagee in possession, with estimates provided through the agent of \$1.1m. The property comprises bar, lounge, café/restaurant, commercial kitchen, play room, service areas, amenities (including disabled toilets), lift, offices, cellar/storage, delivery dock and onsite parking for 30 vehicles, in addition to disabled and staff parking. The property has security and is air conditioned.

It also has a 3 bedroom and study two storey brick residence, and carries 4 gaming entitlements estimated at \$330k. While hotel trading information is available, it has not been taken into account.

A valuation of the tavern, as well as the residence (should it be considered for subdivision and subsequent sale) has been sought and should be available at the meeting. Floor plans and contract are attached and photographs available at the meeting.

ISSUES

Strategic

The property is all in one holding including the dwelling, is currently Zoned 3(a) Business (LEP 2002) and proposed B1 Neighbourhood Centre with a 10m height limit.

That zone permits: Home businesses; Home industries; Home occupations; Boarding houses; Business premises; Child care centres; Medical centres; Neighbourhood shops; Office premises; Respite day care centres; Shop top housing.

Asset

Should Council acquire the property, it should be noted no staff assessment has been undertaken of its condition, nor has its maintenance and renewal been accounted in an AMP. However, as the property is under 7 years old, maintenance costs should be initially minimal. A building report has been requested of the agent. With regard to the following floor areas, some internal modifications may be required to convert the property to the proposed uses:

Current use	NFA*	Proposed use
Tavern, games	325m2	Library space
Restaurant	165m2	Exhibition/community space
Games, outdoor landscaped	100m2	Childrens play/after school care
Storage (x2) each	100m2	Gallery/records storage

The furniture (comprising tables, chairs, piano etc) may be reused in community halls, while the children's play room and equipment may be used for library or after school care. The sale also comprises some electronic equipment and plant, as well as a coaster bus, that may be reused or sold.

The current library furniture and collection would move across to the new venue.

Council may wish to also contemplate reusing the quality commercial kitchen equipment and bar cabinetry in the Bega Civic Centre, and styling the kitchen and bar in the Centre to accommodate that equipment.

The dwelling may be considered for retention as office space, business incubator, affordable housing or crisis accommodation, leased and operated by a third party NGO or NFP, or sold (all subject to relevant zoning and consents). The garage (converted into offices) requires consent.

Social/ Cultural

The Merimbula branch library is housed in leasehold premises in Market Street at \$65k/year, occupying an area of 250m2. Council has considered other options to sell the former library site in Main Street, using the proceeds for construction of a new library and meeting rooms, or considering a joint venture with a developer of that site or another site in the CBD to include a library under strata arrangements for example.

NSW State Library suggests an area of 500m2 is appropriate for a population of Merimbula and environs, and that a branch should be sited in a population centre with access to commercial and community amenities. The tavern site is near aged care accommodation, country club and shopping complex.

Financial

While no funds have been provided in the budget to acquire the Tavern, the LTFP provides \$1.5m for the development of a new Merimbula library in 2013/14 (loan funded), while \$2m was expected to be yielded from the sale or development of the former Main Street library site (see attached).

Subject to the valuation advice, should the Tavern be acquired at say \$1.1m, (P&I @ \$140k pa; IO @ \$55k pa over 10 years), and then gaming licences be sold at say \$330k, the servicing of the remaining debt of say \$800k over 10 years (allowing for internal modifications) would be ~\$100k/year - an increase of \$35k above the current rent for the leased library space of 250m2.

In addition, should council not consider utilising the dwelling for affordable or emergency housing, it could be subdivided and sold, reducing the debt by a further \$350k, with an annual servicing cost of ~\$56k.

Grants could be sought from the State Library in the 2013/2014 Country Libraries Fund for \$200k, while an additional \$45k would come from the Local Priorities Grant for specific projects. In addition, Revitalising Regional Libraries grants \$16k every two years and Council is slated to receive funds in 2014.

Senior Executive to ensure financials complete before finalising report.

Funding source	Amount	
Loan (nett) – serviced from library vote @ \$100k/yr	\$ \$800k	
	1 1000	_

Legal

Should Council acquire the property, there are a number of matters to be attended, including the gaming entitlements, poker machines and transfer of liquor licence. It is understood a number of items in the inventory are subject to licence or lease, and consequently subject to notification or recovery of those items by those third parties.

Operational Plan

L7.2.1 Optimise Bega library and branch libraries to provide services and spaces for children, young people, students and older people and develop as a learning centres.

CONCLUSION

On balance, the acquisition of Tura Tavern, at the (understood) mortgage value of \$1.1m presents as good value for its reuse as library and community purposes - particularly as \$1.5m was allowed for development of a new library, albeit in Merimbula CBD. It is even better value should the gambling entitlements and/or dwelling be sold, and fixtures and fittings be reused in other halls, including the Bega Civic Centre.

RECOMMENDATION

That the General Manager be authorised to bid at auction up to the amount 1. contained in the valuation report, for the acquisition of the Tura Tavern property. being lot 154/DP746134, lot 157/811012.

2. If successful at auction, the General Manager be authorised to execute the contract at time of sale, for co-signing by the Mayor.

3. If acquired, the property be classified as operational land.

Council Minutes: Planning and Environment Committee No. 20.1 – 12 June 2013

20.1 Merimbula Lands - Redevelopment option

Council resolved:

1. That the General Manager be authorised to bid at auction or negotiate in private treaty up to the amount of \$1.5 million, for the acquisition of the Tura Tavern property, being lot Lot 158 / DP 1140729.

2. If successful at auction, the General Manager be authorised to execute the contract at time of sale, for co-signing by the Mayor with associated documents executed under Council seal.

3. If acquired, the property be classified as operational land.

Council Report: Planning and Environment Committee No. 9.2 – 25 September 2013

9.2 Tura facility – proposed uses submission process

The public submission process has been completed and the future uses of the site are now proposed in line with Council's intention to utilise the building for community purposes.

Acting Group Manager Community and Relationships

BACKGROUND

At its meeting of 12 June 2013 Council resolved to authorise the General Manager to purchase at auction the Tura Tavern site for community purposes. This was carried out and Council purchased the site on 13 June 2013. At its meeting of 3 July 2012 Council resolved that the preferred use of the Tavern and the dwelling be noted as: Use of the main building space:

- · Branch Library, office space and work room
- Regional Gallery including storage for the Shirley Hannan Collection
- · Community meeting room/youth space
- Community Services office space

Use of the dwelling:

Offices including business, tourism and ICT incubator

Council further resolved to seek public submissions on the future use of the site and this report summarises the responses received and makes recommendations for the future use of the site.

On 29 June Council placed floor plans representing two options for the Tura Tavern on public exhibition and called for comment from the community. Copies of the floor plans were available on Council's website and hard copies were also available at Council's Zingel Place office in Bega and at library branches in Bermagui, Bega, Merimbula and Eden. Members of the community were invited to provide submissions in writing or via the Bega Valley Views on line submission tool.

Submission closed on Friday August 23. Fifteen (15) submissions were received in total.

Submissions

The majority of the submissions were in relation to the relocation of the regional gallery to the Tura facility (8/15). Most of these were opposed to the idea and preferred to see the regional gallery remain in Bega, there was some support for the Gallery to move to the Tura Facility. One submission was opposed to the relocation of the library.

Two submissions were received suggesting a café in the facility. The remaining submissions suggested spaces for children, young people, older people and shared community spaces. A late submission suggested the use of some space for a community radio station.

There was one submission in favour of the ICT incubator proposal for the residence and one against.

ISSUES

Legal

Leases/licences will be developed for any external agencies utilising space at the facility in line with Council policy and procedure. Casual hire arrangements will also be developed for bookable spaces.

Asset

Council staff have disposed of all 3rd party assets and have compiled a list of remaining fixtures and fittings. It is recommended that the remaining assets be disposed of as outlined in the Council Report of July 7, namely through identifying which assets can be used in Council facilities and selling remaining items to community organisations via an expression of interest process. Any remaining items will be sold to third parties at auction, or disposed of.

Council staff are also seeking quotes for the removal and storage of the kitchen for use in the Bega Civic Centre, final details of this will be included in a future report to Council.

Social / Cultural

The site meets the requirements of the NSW State Library, it is expected that grant funds will be available to assist with the fit out of the library section and fittings from the current Merimbula site will be utilised. The relocation of the community services section meets requirements around disability access, provides a space that suits the delivery of these specific service types and provides a community services presence in another part of the shire.

The provision of space in the residence to co-locate both Sapphire Coast Tourism and South East Arts meets some of the identified outcomes of the CSP and provides an opportunity for tourism and arts collaboration.

The lack of appropriate space in the Tura facility, given the number of uses proposed and the preference of retaining the Regional Gallery in Bega, the regional centre, would suggest that relocating the Gallery to Tura would not be appropriate. The need to find an alternative site to house the Shirley Hannan collection should be seen as a priority. Currently it is planned to provide this in appropriately controlled and designed storage space in the Bega depot redevelopment.

Economic

The conversion of part of the dwelling to an 'incubator' or other business use is supported as a low cost means of 'sponsoring' by low rentals, an ICT and digitally creative business/s with access to high speed broadband. Those initiatives are consistent with the Business Growth Strategy and Digital Economy Strategy. The relocation of the Business Growth section of Council to Tura will add value to this.

Strategic

The Tura facility offers a great opportunity to provide for a community, education and creative industries hub in the south of the shire. Eden and Bermagui both have sites with a mixture of uses supporting their communities. Merimbula/Tura/Pambula has not had the same access to a facility and into the future the opportunity offered at the Tura site has the potential to grow this hub.

Financial

The internal fit out of both the Tavern and the Residence will be funded from a number of existing sources including savings in the library development budget, sale of poker machine licences and a contribution from Community Services reserves held from the sale of the HACC building. Once a detailed design has been completed a full costing will be reported to Council for adoption.

Resources (including staff)

Council staff will be engaged to project manage the design stage of both buildings and to complete the reallocation of the remaining fixtures and fittings.

CONCLUSION

The Tura facility and residence provide an opportunity for Council to develop a space that will have real outcomes for a broad cross section of the community. Given the variety of uses proposed, retaining flexibility at the facility will be key its success, this will allow the spaces to be shared by a range of community groups and activities.

The recommended uses for the space are as follows (outlined in the attached floor plans);

Tavern Upper Level

- Branch Library, office space, work room, community meeting room
- · Covered outdoor community space
- · Café/Reception space
- BVSC Community Service Programs
- Community meeting room

Tavern Lower Level

- Large multi-use community meeting spaces/community exhibition space
- Community offices for use or allocation to community groups
- · Community work room

Residence

- · Sapphire Coast Tourism and South East Arts (downstairs)
- Meeting Room (downstairs)
- ICT Business incubator and office spaces (upstairs)

RECOMMENDATION

- 1. That Council adopt the proposed uses as outlined in the report
- 2. That a final design and costing be reported to Council for adoption
- 3. That where necessary, appropriate development approvals be obtained for the uses of the property adopted by Council.
- 4. That the remaining fixtures and fittings be dealt with as outlined in the report
- 5. That Council give consideration to a new name for the facility.

Council Minutes: Planning and Environment Committee No. 9.2 – 25 September 2013

9.2 Tura facility - proposed uses submission process.

Council resolved:

1. That Council adopt the proposed uses as outlined in the report:

Tavern Upper Level

- Branch Library, office space, work room, community meeting room
- Covered outdoor community space
- Café/Reception space
- BVSC Community Service Programs
- Community meeting room

Tavern Lower Level

- Large multi-use community meeting spaces/community exhibition space
- Community offices for use or allocation to community groups
- Community work room

Residence

- Sapphire Coast Tourism and South East Arts (downstairs)
- Meeting Room (downstairs)
- ICT Business incubator and office spaces (upstairs)
- 2. That a final design and costing be reported to Council for adoption
- 3. That where necessary, appropriate development approvals be obtained for the uses of the property adopted by Council.
- 4. That the remaining fixtures and fittings be dealt with as outlined in the report
- 5. That Council give consideration to a new name for the facility.
Attachment 2: Council reports and resolutions for Lots A & 12 DP 201599, Lot 1 DP 163768 and Lot 2 DP 91361 Market Street, Merimbula

Council Report: Planning and Environment Committee No. 11.6 – 20 March 2013

11.6 25-27 Market Street Merimbula - Classification of land at the Mobil Service Station Site be made operational.

Advising Council of classification of land at 25-27 Market Street Merimbula as operational. Group Manager Infrastructure, Waste & Water

BACKGROUND

On 29 September 2009 Council resolved to bid for the former Mobil fuel site in Market Street Merimbula, subject to certification the property had been remediated to residential standard. The offer of \$1.5m plus GST was accepted, with settlement to take place by 30 November 2011. Settlement has since been deferred on 2 occasions while the remediation process continued.

Three Certificates of title were issued for this land on the 28 December 2012 for

Lot 1 DP 163738, Lot A DP 201599

Lot 12 DP 567206

Lot 2 DP 91361

All public land must be classified by council as either "community" or "operational" land. The main effect of classification is to restrict the alienation and use of the land. "Operational" land has no special restrictions other than those that may apply to any piece of land.

Council has further resolved, previously, as follows:

12 December 2012

That Council note the report and proceed to settlement of 25-27 Market Street Merimbula, with the Mayor and General Manager authorised to execute documents and apply Council's seal

That a loan of \$1.5m over 5 years be raised for the purpose of acquisition of 25-27 Market Street Merimbula, serviced by Merimbula roads and parking development contributions

That a licence to occupy be secured from Mobil and the site be turfed in preparation for the holiday season. That the reports on this matter be declassified after settlement.

27 October 2009

That Council endorse the action of the General Manager to make the revised Expression of Interest for 25 - 27 Market Street, Merimbula as detailed in the report to Council dated 27 October, 2009, for \$1.5 million (plus GST). That the matter be deferred for further report, subject to satisfactory resolution of the terms contained in the revised Expression of Interest.

10 November 2009

That Council note the acceptance by Mobil of its offer to purchase 27 Market Street, Merimbula, inclusive of modified clauses in the contract enabling either party to rescind should the remediation works or environmental report not be complete to standard by settlement or by extension.

That the General Manager and Mayor be authorised to execute contract documents.

That following exchange of contracts, the reports on this matter be declassified.

Legal

Any public land that is acquired by or vested in council after 1 July 1993 may be classified by resolution of council. Land must be classified on its acquisition by council or within 3 months after it acquires the land under the Local Government Act section 31(2) If not, the land is automatically classified as community (s.31(2)) (below)..

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1993 - SECT 31

Classification of land acquired after 1 July 1993

31 Classification of land acquired after 1 July 1993

(1) This section applies to land that is acquired by a council after the commencement of this Division, other than:

(a) land to which the Crown Lands Act 1989 applied before the acquisition and continues to apply after the acquisition, and

(b) land that is acquired for the purpose of a road.

(2) Before a council acquires land, or within 3 months after it acquires land, a council may resolve (in accordance with this Part) that the land be classified as community land or operational land.

(2A) Any land acquired by a council that is not classified under subsection (2) is, at the end of the period of 3 months referred to in that subsection, taken to have been classified under a local environmental plan as community land.

(2B) While the land remains unclassified:

(a) the land may not be used for any purpose other than that for which it was being used immediately before it was acquired, and

(b) the council may not dispose of any interest in the land.

(3) A council must not resolve under this section that land be classified as operational land if:

(a) the land is classified as community land immediately before its acquisition, or

(b) the resolution would be inconsistent with any other Act, the terms of any trust applying to the land or the terms of any instrument executed by the donor or transferor of the land.

CONCLUSION

The acquisition of 25-27 Market Street Merimbula had been resolved by Council on 29 September 2009. The classification of the land to operational will enable progress towards detailed design for the CBD bypass. The classification of the land will also enable Council to progress towards sale, lease or development of the site once subdivision is complete

RECOMMENDATION

That Council resolve under section 31(2) of the Local Government Act to classify the land at 25-27 Market Street Merimbula as Operational.

Council Minutes: Planning and Environment Committee No. 11.6 – 20 March 2013

Council resolved:

1. That Council resolve under section 31(2) of the Local Government Act to classify the land at 25-27 Market Street Merimbula as Operational

2. That the community be advised, via a media release, the reasons why the site cannot be accessed by the public.

Council Minutes: Planning and Environment Committee No. 11.6 – 20 March 2013

11.6 25-27 Market Street Merimbula - Classification of land at the Mobil Service Station Site be made operational.

1. That Council resolve under section 31(2) of the Local Government Act to classify the land at 25-27 Market Street Merimbula as Operational

2. That the community be advised, via a media release, the reasons why the site cannot be accessed by the public.

Attachment 3: Council reports and resolutions for Various Lots Brogo, Eden, Merimbula and Tarraganda

Council Report: Planning and Environment Committee No. 8.4 – 16 April 2014

8.4 Proposed amendment to schedule 4 of Bega Valley Local Environmental Plan 2013 to reclassify certain lands from community to operational land

The purpose of the report is to seek a Council resolution to prepare a Planning Proposal to reclassify certain lands from Community land to Operational land under Bega Valley Local Environmental Plan 2013. Group Manager Planning & Environment

BACKGROUND

In conjunction with the preparation of the draft Bega Valley Local Environmental Plan 2013 a review of Council land was undertaken to ensure such land was correctly classified as either 'Operational land' or 'Community land' under the Local Government Act 1993, depending on the use.

This review identified a number of parcels of land that required reclassification from 'Community land' to 'Operational land' to reflect the nature of the use of the land. The mechanism for reclassification of the land was through the Bega Valley Local Environmental Plan 2013 (BVLEP 2013) gazettal process.

Schedule 4 of BVLEP 2013 lists the land that was reclassified. A review of the Schedule has identified four parcels of land, identified as part of the review to be reclassified as 'Operational land', were not included in Schedule 4. Therefore they remain classified as 'Community land'.

It should be noted that Council had previously resolved to classify the land as 'Operational land', at the time of acquisition, however as the resolution to classify was not notified in accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Act 1993, the classification of the land has reverted to 'Community land'.

Further a parcel of land at Tarraganda, that is currently classified 'Community land', is proposed to be reclassified as 'Operational land' to enable Council to enter into a long term agreement with an adjoining owner for access over the Council land, to the Bega River, for pumping purposes.

LAND TO BE RECLASSIFIED OPERATIONAL LAND:

· Lot 11 DP 735675 Waterloo Creek Road, Brogo

Lot 11 was acquired by Council in 1987 for the purposes of a sewer pump station and is currently used for the Brogo River Pump Station. Lot 11 is classified 'Community land' under BVLEP 2013 and is proposed to be reclassified to 'Operational land' to reflect the existing use of the land.

· Lot 1 DP 1037443 Cnr Imlay & Mitchell Streets, Eden

Lot 1 was acquired by Council in 2002 for the purposes of public buildings and car park area and is currently used for the Eden Gateway Centre office building. Lot 1 is currently classified 'Community land' under BVLEP 2013 and is proposed to be reclassified to 'Operational land' to reflect the existing use of the land.

· Lot 949 DP 810986 Main Street, Merimbula

Lot 949 was acquired by Council in 1991 for the purposes of a car park and is currently used for the Merimbula Town CBD car park. Lot 949 is currently classified 'Community land' under BVLEP 2013 and is proposed to be reclassified to 'Operational land' to reflect the existing use of the land.

Lot 299 DP 1151525 Snowy Mountains Highway, Numbugga

Lot 299 was acquired by Council in 1976 for the purposes of a Rural Fire Service (RFS) shed and is currently used for the Numbugga RFS shed. Lot 299 is currently classified 'Community land' under BVLEP 2013 and is proposed to be reclassified to 'Operational land' to reflect the existing use of the land.

· Lot 14 DP 249924 Moore Wrens Road, Tarraganda

Lot 14 was dedicated to Council in 1975 for Public Reserve purposes as part of a subdivision approval and is currently classified as community land. The owners of the adjoining Lot 1316 sought approval from Council to gain access over Lot 14 to pump water from the Bega River to provide a water supply to their land. Council agreed to the request and, as a short term solution, Council entered into a temporary licence agreement to enable the owners to legally construct water infrastructure over the Public Reserve (Lot 14) to access the water from the Bega River.

However, as the land is classified as 'Community land', Council is unable to enter into a long term agreement or provide an easement for water purposes. Lot 14 is an isolated piece of land with no other access, other than

from the steep embankment of the Bega River. Staff consider that the land would be more appropriately classified as 'Operational land' to enable long term arrangements to be entered into. CONCLUSION

Staff have identified that four parcels of Council owned land, that were identified to be classified as 'Operational land' as part of a review during the draft BVLEP 2013 process, were not included in Schedule 4 of BVLEP 2013 as reclassified land. The land remains classified as 'Community land'. The 'Community land' classification is inconsistent with the use of the land for infrastructure purposes and should be reclassified as 'Operational land'. Further Lot 14 DP 249924 is a Public Reserve and classified 'Community land'. Council has entered into a short term licence agreement to enable an adjoining owner to access water from the Bega River over Lot 14. Lot 14 is an isolated parcel of land with very limited public access. Council is unable to enter into a long term agreement with the adjoining owner while the land is classified as 'Community land'. The reclassification of Lot

14 to 'Operational land' would provide Council with options to either establish a permanent arrangement or possible future sale of part of the land to the adjoining owner.

To facilitate the reclassification of land Council is required to prepare a Planning Proposal to formally amend Schedule 4 of BVLEP 2013 by including the land in the schedule.

As part of the reclassification of Lot 14 the public reserve status would also be extinguished and therefore Lot 14 would fall into Part 2 of Schedule 4, while the other four parcels would fall within Part 1 of Schedule 4.

RECOMMENDATION

1. That Council prepare a Planning Proposal to amend Schedule 4 Part 1 of the BVLEP 2013 by reclassifying the following lots from 'Community land' to 'Operational land':

· Lot 11 DP 735675 Waterloo Creek Road, Brogo

· Lot 1 DP 1037443 Cnr Imlay & Mitchell Streets, Eden

· Lot 949 DP 810986 Main Street, Merimbula

· Lot 299 DP 1151525 Snowy Mountains Highway, Numbugga.

2. That Council prepare a Planning Proposal to amend Schedule 4 Part 2 of the BVLEP 2013 by reclassifying Lot 14 DP 249924 Moore Wrens Road, Tarraganda from 'Community land' to 'Operational land'.

3. That the Planning Proposal be forwarded to the Department of Planning for Gateway Panel Determination. Council Minutes: Planning and Environment Committee No. 8.4 – 16 April 2014

Council resolved:

1. That Council prepare a Planning Proposal to amend Schedule 4 Part 1 of the BVLEP 2013 by reclassifying the following lots from 'Community land' to 'Operational land':

- Lot 11 DP 735675 Waterloo Creek Road, Brogo
- Lot 1 DP 1037443 Cnr Imlay & Mitchell Streets, Eden
- Lot 949 DP 810986 Main Street, Merimbula
- Lot 299 DP 1151525 Snowy Mountains Highway, Numbugga.

2. That Council prepare a Planning Proposal to amend Schedule 4 Part 2 of the BVLEP 2013 by reclassifying Lot 14 DP 249924 Moore Wrens Road, Tarraganda from 'Community land' to 'Operational land'.

3. That the Planning Proposal be forwarded to the Department of Planning for Gateway Panel Determination.

Council Minutes: Planning and Environment Committee No. 8.4 – 16 April 2014

8.4 Proposed amendment to schedule 4 of Bega Valley Local Environmental Plan 2013 to reclassify certain lands from community to operational land

1. That Council prepare a Planning Proposal to amend Schedule 4 Part 1 of the BVLEP 2013 by reclassifying the following lots from 'Community land' to 'Operational land':

- Lot 11 DP 735675 Waterloo Creek Road, Brogo
- Lot 1 DP 1037443 Cnr Imlay & Mitchell Streets, Eden
- Lot 949 DP 810986 Main Street, Merimbula
- · Lot 299 DP 1151525 Snowy Mountains Highway, Numbugga.

2. That Council prepare a Planning Proposal to amend Schedule 4 Part 2 of the BVLEP 2013 by reclassifying Lot 14 DP 249924 Moore Wrens Road, Tarraganda from 'Community land' to 'Operational land'.

3. That the Planning Proposal be forwarded to the Department of Planning for Gateway Panel Determination.

Attachment 4: Council reports and resolutions for Part Lot 182 DP 1100739 and Lot 2 DP 569005 Lake Street, Merimbula

Council Report: Planning and Environment Committee No. 4 - 12 June 2012

4. Bega Valley Local Environmental Plan 2012

In accordance with the Council resolution of 22 May 2012 staff have assessed both the written and oral presentations to the Council meeting regarding the Draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan 2010 (Draft CLEP). The staff summary is included as Appendix 7 of this report.

The report recommends amendment to the Draft CLEP and adoption of the plan. Further that the amended plan be forwarded to the Director-General requesting that the "plan be made" by the Minister for Planning.

Group Manager, Planning and Environment

Background

Council at its meeting held on 22 May 2012 gave consideration to a report on the Bega Valley Local Environmental Plan 2010 with the following staff recommendation:

"That, in regards to the draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan, Council resolves to:

- 1. Adopt the recommendations for the submissions outlined in:
 - Appendix 1 support (or partial support) for the submission request, with only minor changes required to the exhibited draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan;
 - Appendix 2 support (or partial support) for the submission request however, due to the nature of changes proposed, a "planning proposal" is to be prepared by Council and a "gateway determination" by the Minister for Planning is required prior to re-exhibition;
 - Appendix 3 further research to be carried out by Council staff prior to progressing via a future report to Council; and
 - Appendix 4 no agreement with the submission request, or the submission to be noted with no need for further action at this time – therefore proceed with the draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan as exhibited.
- 2. Amend the draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan in accordance with the recommendations in Appendix 1, the reclassification of various parcels of Council land in accordance with the report of the public hearing in Appendix 5, and the revised written instrument in Appendix 6.
- 3. Incorporate lot averaging into the draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan for land zoned R5 Large Lot Residential, E3 Environmental Management and E4 Environmental Living.
- 4. Adopt the amended draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan as per points 2 and 3 above, and forward the plan to the Director-General of NSW Planning & Infrastructure in accordance with the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 requesting that "the plan be made" by the Minister for Planning.
- 5. Proceed with a "planning proposal" and, if agreed by the Minister for Planning, re-exhibit those properties in accordance with the adopted recommendations of agreed submissions contained within Appendix 2. In the interim the subject land be "deferred", *thereby retaining its current zoning and status under* Bega Valley Local Environmental Plan 2002.
- 6. Defer a decision on the submissions in Appendix 3 until strategic investigations are completed and reported back to Council. In the interim the subject land be "deferred", thereby retaining its current zoning and status under Bega Valley Local Environmental Plan 2002.
- 7. Undertake further investigations into potential industrial sites in the Bega District for the longer term, noting that the draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan has already identified additional industrial land for the short to medium term in Bega (South) and Kalaru.

- 8. Note that the draft Comprehensive Development Control Plan requires further investigation and refinement, incorporating appropriate changes emanating from submissions.
- 9. Advise all those persons who have made submissions of the above."

In accordance with Council's Code of Meeting Practice the report was deferred for a further report due to addresses.

WHAT DOES THE PLAN SEEK TO ACHIEVE?

- The majority of the Shire has simply been changed to the closest comparable zone available in the standard State wide template. This means that the majority of land owners wanting to develop or improve their properties will not be affected by the draft plan.
- Where there are changes proposed, the focus is on improving opportunities for economic development and jobs in the Bega Valley town centres, through the expansion of business, mixed use and industrial zones.
- Protection of productive agricultural land through the use of RU1 Primary Production and RU2 Rural Landscape zones.
- Establishment of allotment sizes through a "Lot Size Map", thus determining subdivision and dwelling entitlements.
- Recognition of environmentally sensitive land through the use of E3 Environmental Management and E4 Environmental Living zones.
- Protection of sensitive foreshore areas and bushland public reserves through the use of E2 Environmental Conservation zone.

Addresses to Council

There were a total of 22 individual addresses to Council while Mr C Maxted of Caddey Searl & Jarman addressed on behalf of 17 client submissions as well as matters raised by Caddey Searl and Jarman relating to subdivision clauses, lot sizing and height controls. In addition 11 written addresses were received.

The issues raised in all the addresses have been reviewed by Council staff including site meetings where appropriate.

As a result of this review, the staff recommendations for 21 of the submissions subject to addresses have been revised from that which was previously recommended to the Council on 22 May 2012.

Appendix 7 to this report is the staff summary of the addresses.

Appendix 1, 2, 3 and 4 attached to this report have been updated in accordance with the staff position included in Appendix 7.

Link to Planning & Environment Report 5 - 22 May 2012

Advice from the Department of Planning

Council on 28 February 2012 gave consideration to a staff report on the draft CLEP and as part of the resolution resolved the following:

- "1. That to progress the Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan:
 - Council staff work with the Department of Planning on the proposed amendments to the exhibited CLEP that would be considered minor and not warrant further exhibition.
 - Staff report to Council on those proposed amendments that are deemed not to require further exhibition.

• The mapping to the CLEP be amended in accordance with that subsequent Council resolution.

Council has now received a solid overall endorsement of its approach to the finalisation of the CLEP as per the response of 31 May 2012 from the Regional Director, Department of Planning (see Appendix 8).

The Department has raised two main issues for consideration which relate to Littleton Gardens and to land owned by Bermagui Country Club.

In response, the following action is proposed by staff:

- 1. Further justification to be provided regarding Council's intended RE1 Public Recreation zoning of Littleton Gardens.
- 2. The E3 zone at the Bermagui Country Club be amended to E2 in accordance with the advice.

HEIGHT CONTROLS IN MERIMBULA, BEGA AND EDEN TOWN CENTRES

Staff have reviewed the height controls in Merimbula Town Centre in consideration of a number of submissions and workshop discussions with local professionals and Councillors. For the sake of consistency across the Shire reviews are now being undertaken for Bega and Eden Town Centres.

The matter is expected to be reported to Council in July and that any proposed changes will be treated as per Appendix 2.

Planning comment

The preparation of the draft CLEP has been a lengthy and extensive process for not only Councillors and staff, but the community as a whole. The process has included the 12 weeks of exhibition, including public information sessions, and a series of workshops with Councillors over the past 9 months since the completion of the exhibition period.

Further, Council staff have held a number of meetings with officers of the Department of Planning regarding all aspects of both the written instrument and the maps. Officers of the Department have also met with Councillors on several occasions over the last 6-7 years. These meetings clarified many issues and led to the inclusion of rural worker's dwellings becoming permissible with consent in the rural zones as part of the draft CLEP.

All public submissions and addresses, as well as Government agency submission and staff recommended changes, have been considered by Councillors at workshops.

Staff are of the opinion that Council is now in a position to resolve on the submissions and addresses received.

It is proposed that Appendix 1 be adopted by Council and that the draft CLEP be amended accordingly, including the mapping, and referred to the Department of Planning requesting that "the plan be made" by the Minister for Planning.

Appendix 2 and 3 represent submissions that are agreed to and require re-exhibition or submissions that require further investigation prior to resolution by Council. In the interim, it is proposed that the subject land be "deferred" thus retaining all the existing zonings and other provisions contained in the BVLEP 2002.

Staff are of the opinion that this pathway would finalise the CLEP process for the vast majority of landholders in the Shire and give surety and confidence in the planning process and strategic direction for the Shire.

Also, those persons who made submissions that are deferred would have the confidence that there would be no change to the current status of their land under BVLEP 2002 until their submission is re-exhibited or further investigated and finally resolved by Council.

The remaining submissions are proposed to be noted and/or not to be supported at this time.

Notwithstanding extensive workshopping of all the submissions with Councillors, it is open for any submission to be debated by Council at the meeting.

It should be noted that recommendation 7 to this report refers to investigations being undertaken into Industrial Land for the Shire as a whole, not the Bega District as recommended in the report to Council on 22 May 2102. This recommendation now accurately reflects Council's previously resolved position of 28 February 2012.

Conclusion

The draft CLEP has been prepared and exhibited in accordance with the provisions of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) and all submissions are now placed formally before Council for determination. A public hearing has been held in relation to the reclassification of Council owned land.

It is proposed that the draft CLEP be amended as per the recommendations of this report and referred to the NSW Department of Planning in accordance with the Act, requesting that "the plan be made" by the Minister.

Recommendation

That, in regards to the draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan, Council resolves to:

- 1. Adopt the recommendations for the submissions outlined in:
 - Appendix 1 support (or partial support) for the submission request, with only minor changes required to the exhibited draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan;
 - Appendix 2 support (or partial support) for the submission request however, due to the nature of changes proposed, a "planning proposal" is to be prepared by Council and a "gateway determination" by the Minister for Planning is required prior to re-exhibition;
 - Appendix 3 further research to be carried out by Council staff prior to progressing via a future report to Council; and
 - Appendix 4 no agreement with the submission request, or the submission to be noted with no need for further action at this time – therefore proceed with the draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan as exhibited.
- 2. Amend the draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan in accordance with the recommendations in Appendix 1, the reclassification of various parcels of Council land in accordance with the report of the public hearing in Appendix 5, and the revised written instrument in Appendix 6.
- 3. Incorporate lot averaging into the draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan for land zoned R5 Large Lot Residential, E3 Environmental Management and E4 Environmental Living.
- 4. Adopt the amended draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan as per points 2 and 3 above, and forward the plan to the Director-General of NSW Planning & Infrastructure in accordance with the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 requesting that "the plan be made" by the Minister for Planning.
- 5. Proceed with a "planning proposal" and, if agreed by the Minister for Planning, re-exhibit those properties in accordance with the adopted recommendations of agreed submissions contained within Appendix 2. In the interim the subject land be "deferred", thereby retaining its current zoning and status under Bega Valley Local Environmental Plan 2002.
- 6. Defer a decision on the submissions in Appendix 3 until strategic investigations are completed and reported back to Council. In the interim the subject land be "deferred", thereby retaining its current zoning and status under Bega Valley Local Environmental Plan 2002.
- 7. Undertake further investigations into potential industrial sites in the Bega Valley Shire for the longer term, noting that the draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan has already identified additional industrial land for the short to medium term in Bega (South) and Kalaru.
- 8. Note that the draft Comprehensive Development Control Plan requires further investigation and refinement, incorporating appropriate changes emanating from submissions.
- 9. Advise all those persons who have made submissions of the above.

Council Minutes: Planning and Environment Committee No. 4 - 12 June 2012

4. Bega Valley Local Environmental Plan 2012

1. That the following items be placed appropriately in Appendices 1 -4 as listed below:

- That the following item be moved from Appendix 4 to Appendix 1 and thus deleted from the Heritage Schedule: [section deleted]
- 2. That in regard to the draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan Council adopts the recommendations for the submissions outlined in:
 - Appendix 1 support (or partial support) for the submission request, with only minor changes required to the exhibited draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan;
 - Appendix 2 support (or partial support) for the submission request however, due to the nature of changes proposed, a "planning proposal" is to be prepared by Council and a "gateway determination" by the Minister for Planning is required prior to re-exhibition;
 - Appendix 3 further research to be carried out by Council staff prior to progressing via a future report to Council; and
 - Appendix 4 no agreement with the submission request, or the submission to be noted with no need for further action at this time – therefore proceed with the draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan as exhibited.
- 3. That Council amend the draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan in accordance with the recommendations in Appendix 1, the reclassification of various parcels of Council land in accordance with the report of the public hearing in Appendix 5, and the revised written instrument in Appendix 6.
- 4. That Council incorporate lot averaging into the draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan for land zoned R5 Large Lot Residential, E3 Environmental Management and E4 Environmental Living.
- 5. Adopt the amended draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan as per points 3 and 4 above, and forward the plan to the Director-General of NSW Planning & Infrastructure in accordance with the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 requesting that "the plan be made" by the Minister for Planning.
- 6. That Council proceed with a "planning proposal" and, if agreed by the Minister for Planning, re-exhibit those properties in accordance with the adopted recommendations of agreed submissions contained within Appendix 2. In the interim the subject land be "deferred", thereby retaining its current zoning and status under Bega Valley Local Environmental Plan 2002.
- 7. That Council defer a decision on the submissions in Appendix 3 until strategic investigations are completed and reported back to Council. In the interim the subject land be "deferred", thereby retaining its current zoning and status under Bega Valley Local Environmental Plan 2002.
- 8. That Council undertake further investigations into potential industrial sites in the Bega Valley Shire for the longer term, noting that the draft Comprehensive Local Environmental Plan has already identified additional industrial land for the short to medium term in Bega (South) and Kalaru.
- 9. That Council note that the draft Comprehensive Development Control Plan requires further investigation and refinement, incorporating appropriate changes emanating from submissions.
- 10. That Council advise all those persons who have made submissions of the above.

Attachment 5: Certificates of Title



www.spirit_http://www.spirit_withtrangel_estern 446-it_fore(withtra)/failed in-transmission

5145444



Req:R965752 /DociDL W777853 /Rev:20-Oct-2010 /Sts:NO.OR /Prt:11=Pab=2014 09:24 /Pgs:ALL /Seq:2 of 3 Ref:Lg:bega-mproo Preo /Src:W HP134

SCHEDULE THREE HEREINBEFORE REFERRED TO

The Frankerse hereby taxenum with the Transferor to the intent that this covenant shall be binding so far the Transferee may be the owner for the time being of the land hereby transferred but upon the Transferee only so long as be is the newar of the said land, that the Transferes and those deriving title under him will at all times hereafter observe and perform the restrictions and stipulations set forth hereunder Next (n) and (9

- (a) that all buildings to be erected on the land shall be of brick construction with steel portal framing;
- (b) that any shops to be erected shall have covered avnings over the foottath of each shop:
- (c) that all areas of car park be sealed, lighted, drained, marked with spaces and adequately landscaped;
- (d) that the lond be landscaped and that all gardens shrubs and trees be maintained and replaced when appropriate.

And it is hereby declared that the land which is the subject to the burden of this governant is the land hereby transferred and the lands to which the benefits of the restrictions and stipulations are appurtenant are Lote 1502 to 1519 inclusive of D.P. 262626.

The Transferor reserves to itself the right to release modify vary or valve day restrictions or stipulations referred to herein.

) Hallompeon.

(For continuation of SCHEINULEIS) see promote(s) horeso)

.2965752 /Doc.DL W :lg:bega-mproo Pro		t-2010 /	Sts:NO.OK /Pr	ct:11-Peb-2014 09:24 /Pgs:ALL /Seq:3 of 3
1000 C				1
R# 12.4		14	ISTRUCTIONS PO	A COMPLETION
	the she remains of land a	seather with	the granting or recen	vestion of easements and/or the creation of restrictive opvenants. For other travelers
Itis form is only to be use orent RP 13, RP 138, RP 130	a spproprise.			vestion of essements and/or the creation of restrictive cevanians. For other transfers -in
inte dealing should be much	ed by the Commissioner of	Stamp Duties	before lodgment at th	a Registry General Conce
Sypenetising and handwrisin	should be clear, legible an	d in permanen	et black ope-copying in	9k
AL		standard are to	to roled shreeth and	i initialized by the parties to the depling.
who seems provided is insi	Miclanit, additional shorts of	the same allo	a and quality of paper	and having the same margins in this term provid to take. The second second
Registered mortgagees, cha	rgees and leases of the main article encumbrances.	vient tanoma	ns should consent to i	any grant or reservation of easement; otherwise the mortgage charge or lease should be
and the second of the section	and the attesting witnesse	s should appea	w below the last provi	teon in the last completed achedule.
AT 220 B				
Auto up off blanks. The following insuractions is	where we the side peter of t	La form.		
Description of lan iii) TOASENS TH III) TOASENS TH III) TOASENS TH	L LE REPERDICE	rard Fallie Identit te latie of the A	and the second se	I blie Carolitates of TelayCrow's Grant for the level being transformed, e.g., 13555143455 or Veij 8576 For, 726 d, dolete the word "WHOLS" and Issues the last and plan tandast, parsien, &c., See also sections 337 and Children, If the levels for blank, insert the Parish and Covers, e.g., Ph. Listeare Co. Reve.
(b) Tenement peorl-	-insert the current Pollo I 15/5712345 or Vol. 8514 Pol	ible and Th		Confere. If this leading is not showing inserts the Partick and County, e.g., Ph. Liamere Ga. Rave, he Certificate of Tula(Crown Grant for both the servicent and dominant tensments of the amplitude for covenence by the transferor.
(c) Show the full rant	e, address and occupation o	r description.		Management and insert appropriate matrix.
(d) If the estate being	transferved is a leaser esta-	a this 66 cell	na in tee simple, which a, delete either "Joint	a "Yee simple" and insert appropriate music. semants" or "tements in common", and, if the transferees hold as tensets in common, state
(e) Daless if only car the shares in whi	the shery bold.			ny mortgaga, charge or lease (except where the coment of the mortgages, charges or leases
(f) is the memory of is furnished) and	en of prior ascumbrances, s of any writ recorded in the	cate only the i Register.	unfingenes seminer of p	shi sana infantina na finana ana ana ana ana ana ana ana ana an
	words are lessoroprizite			
(h) Execution.	() Breadd sharn be jesseffalter	space for evening	tion of this douling, and an I Proparty Act, 1960 must	everyours phone. In started by all percises as the reporter, each party to resulte the dealing in the provements of an equilibre the The equilibre for the transformer may sign the contributes an phone of the transformer, the reference same form and the excession of a sequence of another of an excession prove and each of the full same of the effective excession of a sequence of another of anothers, the form of anothers more not est the full same of the effective excession of a sequence of another of anothers, the form of anothers more not set the full same of the effective excession of a sequence of another of anothers, the form of anothers more not set the full same of the effective of the second of the results of another of anothers, the form of anothers of the result of powers of a set of the second of the results of the second of the
	(13) The cordinate of correction not being a party to the d that of his firm, to be true	wing, to when	he is personally known.	The satisfies for the transfers ray ago to the 1900.
ATTOAMET	(Di) if the sounder is ensured in and the form of monutation	as attorney for	the source of his asthering	The second second second second response of an array with 1900. Resonance is a region and power of an array with the second se
AUTHORITY	registered book	PER.	abieing fastion shus reastle	b) C4.2. All by the elements of the set preserve interver! For voltime of an evention over induced preserve interver!
COAPONATES	(v) If the transfer is sentitived i	y a corporation	rant attaction the affairing	of the seaf reast store his position (a.g., derenas, service or the ter the second
in insert the name.	pustal address. Occument I	Exchange refer	reace, telephone numb	or and develop out in the set of the set of the Cartificate of Tule. List.
the star be delayed and	to to complete the LOCAT	NON OF DOC	CUMENTS panel. Par	is a true of the approximate 11% for largers of administration, &c.
as from the other	of the externent face, e.c.	, section 101/	A of the Conveyances	Act, 1917 and 1918 I not analizable, rule through this space.
ansamant (ot) an	that an estemant in gross)	must comply	and have the same ma	Conversations plat, 1917. This shows an annexuse must be identified as an annexuse and signed intergalation 37 of the Real Property Act regulations, 1970. In regulation 37 of the Real Property Act, regulations, 1970. If not applicable, rule through
Annexersa shou by the parties a	id the of the same site and quad the attacking witnesses.	Any plan ann	ased should comply w	ith regulation 37 of the Real Property Act regulation, 1990. If not applicative rule through
A .A This summer in our	owidad for any restrictive of	ovenant by th	e transferor (which m	the compty with second of
(a) This space is pr	onided for any restrictive of	overant by st	he stansferes (which m	wat comply with section 00 of the Conversioning Are, 1919). If not applicable, rule through
this space.				E G65 DNLY
The				IDALE DERICTIONS
DIALCTICAL PROP				
KALINE FOUR BALINER	IN No IQ SHAR	(D) ()(D)		NAME AND DESCRIPTION
D-1				
		1		
Sec. 13	1		SECOND SCHEDU	LE & OTHER DIRECTIONS
TOLIO IDENTIFIU		PONOTE O	DEALING WUNSER	(C) DETA(3
and many interact 4 percent	Disction	TTPB	100110000	
				1
N.				
16		1		
St-1		1		
	1	1		
1		1 1		1
				1
	1	1 1		
		1 î		

IN AND D. WENT, OCVERIMENT PRINTER



Reg:8965757 /Doc.DL W171852 /Rev:31-Jul-1997 /Sts:OK.DK /Prt:11-Feb-2014 09:24 /Pgs:ALL /Seg:2 of 2 Ref:lg:bega-mpreo PREO /Src W

AP 56

INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETION

Vra Pr

This dealing should be starked by the Constitutions of Starp Deltes before before the Regiment at the Regiment General's Office. Typewriting and hardwriting should be clear, legible ind is personant lick new-capying this. Alageaburs are not to be mode by ensures the works rejected are to be relied dreagh and missible by the sutherland officer. If the gave provided is moriticent, definitions there at the is area too and a gavity of paper and having the sume margins as this form should be seed. Each odditional shoes east be beindflad is an sunescens and signed by the avela-bed officer and attenting withouts.

The following instructions relate to the ride votes on the form. (a) Description of land

18 TO REPORT TOTAL REFERENCES -- Insert the sources Folle Neurolas on Vehicles and Folle of the Certifician of Print/Crown Branc for the follow object of the relevance of the Vehicles of The Follow Foll (A) FOL PARTINITIES -- If port only of the land to the Bobs of the Report to the Interface of the relation, device its word "WHOLE" and Sectors for the following Ba

(b) Show the full name and address of the Prescribed Authority,

(c) fevert die Restriction auto User registernit merikar.

(d) Execution.

(d) Execution. The certificate of increases under the Keel Property Act, 1900 must be signed by an authorized officer of the Prescribed Authority who should excepte the release in the presence of an adult witches, to when he is periorally known. Any perior folicity or negligantly certifying is lishing to the provided by section 117 of the Anal Property Act, 1900.
 (a) Source the news, perior folicity are regigned, sectore, talephase number and definer box number of the Refer party.

(f) The ledging party is to complete the LO SATION OF DOCUMENTS panel. First a tick in the appropriate box to indicate the interseboves of the Certificate of Table (36, 56 on all-revisited form, other docements ledged, e.g., and dec. for assessory deticration.

OFFICE USE ONLY

DRECTON PROP			FIRST INC	(EDULUE UNIXE INDIALS		
(A) FOLID (DEATER)	No Ne C LIVA	1 20 10		MAM	AND DESCRIPTION	
		1 1				
	1.1	1				
		11				
	11	1				
	11.	11				
	11	11				
	i i –	1 È				
	11	î î				
	i de la com	i i				
	i i	i i				
	1 1	i i				
	11	i i				
		1 1	SECOND SONDLAR			
FOUD ISENIUTE	CH Drate FIDM	PENOTINU TITE	DEVENOE MEMOREE	00	DETARI	
1	Inst	e. 17	Pristale	Variation	1 Pertictor in	to lla
	VNDA		1 201010	Victoria	of Restriction as.	/////
	60	VA	1	l)		
		1	1	l.		
		1		1		
		i i		1		
		1		i i		
				Î.		
	1	1				
		1	1			
		1	10			
		1				
		1				
		1				
		1				
				-	17 mm	

Certificate of Title: Tavern Site, Tura Beach Drive Tura Beach

BOX 1W (AH459894)



NEW SOUTH WALES CERTIFICATE OF TITLE REAL PROPERTY ACT, 1900

LE	12/567	
	1	28/12/2012
		-W2-KRVG
REGIST	RAR GEN	ana a

I certify that the person described in the First Schedule is the registered proprietor of an estate in fee simple (or such other estate or interest as is set forth in that Schedule) in the land within described subject to such exceptions, memory and anose, interests and entries as appear in the Second Bchedule and to any additional entries in the Folio of the Register.

LAND

LOT 12 IN DEPOSITED PLAN 567260 AT MERIMBULA. LOCAL GOVERNMENT AREA: BEGA VALLEY. PARISH OF PAMBULA COUNTY OF AUCKLAND TITLE DIAGRAM: DP567260

FIRST SCHEDULE

BEGA VALLEY SHIRE COUNCIL

(T AH459894)

SECOND SCHEDULE

.

1. RESERVATIONS AND CONDITIONS IN THE CROWN GRANT(S) 2. N572528 COVENANT/

**** END OF CERTIFICATE ****

4770835

1



Req:R965728 /Doc:DL N572528 /Rev:21-May-1997 /Sts:Q1.OK /Prt:11-Feb-2014 09:22 /Pgs:ALL /Seq:2 of 4 Ref:lg:bega-mpreo Preo /Src:W

And the transferee covenant(s) with the transfered but only during the land adjoining the land hereby Transferred but only during the ownership thereof by the Transferer their executors, administrators or assigns other than purchasers of sule that no fence shall be created on the land hereby transferer their executors, administrators or assigns but such consent shall not be sithheld if such fence is created without and in favour of any person dealing with the Transferes or its assigns such consent shall be deemed to have been given in respect of every and fence for the time being ereoted and <u>IT HEREBY DEDLARED AND AUREPED</u>:-

1. This covenant may be released varied or modified by the owner or owners for the time being of such adjoining land.

The land bearing the burden of this covenant is the land hereby transferred.

3. The land having the berefit of this covenant is the adjoining land being

ENCUMBRANCES, &c., REFERRED TO." Reservations and conditions, if any, contained in Land Grants. e divery short note will suffer. Reveal di diversit

[56]

p na finadore o Tres-kers dyn hy a mid, bu senarith a set and pil the increme at grad pil entering at grad pil entering to be buy and intering the we familie of the we familie of the we familie of the pill of the heat of the pill of the heat of the pill of the heat of the pill of the nuteror insteror has inter the service of the ser Signed at Weightbyfr Signed in my preseded by the Ganiferor] 12424 n. WIND B PTRESONALLY KNOWN TO HE ē, Al aller Relations and the Arrival A diverter Assepted, and I have y certify this Transfer to be correct for the perpeter of the Real Troperty Act. the bar who a prime and off a prime of a prime prime of a prime prime and a prime prime and a prime prime state of the final and states of the final states of the fin Signed in my-presence by the transferce WHO IS-PERSONALLY KNOWN TO THE Transferte(s). 10 6.0 Accepted, and it is hereby certified that this Transfer is correct for the purposes of the Real Property Act. A Antis 52 Citid Junita of Kee h wither may specific and the Public Factors and the Public Factors and the Public Factors and the Sector of Con-trast and the Sector of Con-trast and the Sector of Con-trast and Sectors and Sectors and the Public Factors and Contrast Sectors and the Sector of Con-trast Contrast Sectors and Contrast Sectors and the Sector of Contrast and Contrast Sectors and the Sector of Contrast and Contrast Sectors and the Sector of Contrast Sectors and Contrast Sectors and the Sector of Contrast Sectors and Contrast Sectors and Sectors THE COMPON SEAL of MERIMBULA BAKET PIT, LIMITED was hereente officed in the presence of: Combian gent. VreCove Elener lor * Secretary 1-70/05 1 (HAL) H H to a state MEMORANDUM AS TO NON-REVOCATION OF POWER OF ATTORNEY. Correct Correct Correct (To be signed at the time of excerning and intermediate of the revocation of the Power in the time of all constraints where by the undersigned states that he has no notice of the revocation of the Power of All crney segistered No. Miscellaneous Register under the outbority of which he has Consideration of the Appendix of the Appendix of Consideration and the Appendix of the Appendi A writin of e in Conte in Day Ma 19 Signed at the day of Signed in the personne of-S & Greek vet of of a attesting attents may a distinction of the spectrum thereof before of such persons (who stype and other his and CERTIFICATE OF J.P., &c., TAKING DECLARATION OF ATTESTING WITNESS. Appendix Provide and Appendix , the day of one showcord Appeared before me, at the attesting witness to this instrument, , the person and distored that he personally knew s, 20 instrumenta ito actor e la facili ficat part de All should by sink as of any policy of alloway, the original power must be registered in the Makehanna Ragher, and produce with each dashing and the movies of an experiment of a form and a sink with each dashing and the movies of an experiment of a form based by the Makehanna and the movies of an experiment of an experiment of a form based by the Makehanna and the movies of an experiment of the form based by the Makehanna and the movies of a form of a sink of form based by the Makehanna and the movies of a form of a sink of form based by the Makehanna and the movies of a sink of a sink of a sink of form based by the Makehanna and the movies of the Makehanna and the movies of a sink of # H12-3 5 421-3

Reg:R965728 /Doc:DL N572528 /Rev:21-May-1997 /Sts:Q1.0K /Prt:11-Feb-2014 09:22 /Pgs:ALL /Seq:4 of 4 Ref:19:bega-mpreo Preo /Src:W N 572528 Lodged by OF ASSTREES BRANCH SECURITIES Address No. MIT DIREET & BAATIN PLASE PLONE 20165 SYDNET 7000 Phone No. PARTIAL DISCHARGE OF MORIGAGE! (N B .- Before execution read morginal note.) I_{i} I, mortgages under Mortgage No. release and discharge the land comprised in the within transfer from such mortgage and all claims i the sink-on a more thereinder but without projudice to my rights and remedies as regards the balance of the land con prior to the the det in such mortgage. 2 Lad a date Doted at this day of 12 Signed in my presence by who is personally known to me Mortgagee. DOCUMENTS LODGED RUREWITH To be filled in by person holging dealing 512 11 I. Received Duck 2 3, Nos. ð 4 5 g Clerk Rei 6 Indexed MEMORANDUN OF TRANSFER lijest Covenent G Checked by Particulars entered in Register Bonk DEPARTMENTAL 106.2 5-12-1973 Passed (in 5 D B) by Signed by Jahar 63 20 V Ĩ Registrat General Ş, LEAVE THERE SPACES PROJELSS RECORD Initials | Date Sent to Survey Brans Received from Record Draft written Draft examined Diagram property Disgram casmined Draft Kurwande I Supt, of Engraners Causeflation Clerk . YUL. Por. 6 306-8 Statt-6

<i>.</i>	BOX 1W (AH459894) New South Wall CERTIFICATE OI REAL PROPERTY ACT	FTITLE		TE CO INDITE /12/2012
	I coertify that the person described in the First Schedule is the rep proprietor of an astate in fee simple (or such other estats or interest as is a in that Schedule) in the land within described subject to such exce sucumbrances, interests and entries as appear in the Second Schedule and additional entries in the Folio of the Register.	et forth REGISTI	RAR GENERAL	
	LAND DESCRIBED IN SCHEDULE OF PARCELS AT MERRIMBULA. LOCAL GOVERNMENT AREA: BEGA VALLEY. PARISH OF PAMBULA COUNTY OF AUCKLI TITLE DIAGRAM: SEE SCHEDULE OF PARCE			
	FIRST SCHEDULE BEGA VALLEY SHIRE COUNCIL		(T)	AH459894)
	SECOND SCHEDULE 1. RESERVATIONS AND CONDITIONS IN THE	CROWN GRANT ((S)	
	SCHEDULE OF PARCELS LOT 1 IN DP163768 LOT A IN DP201599	TITLE DIAGRA DP163768 DP201599	3	

**** END OF CERTIFICATE ****

4770833

8



**** END OF CERTIFICATE ****

4770834

Certificates of Title: Mobil Site, Market Street Merimbula

BOX 124E (AH902449)





 PORKENE TITLE REFERENCE

 11/735875

 EDITION

 26/7/2013

 CRETTIFICATE AUTHENTICATION GODE

 2CV9-RG-DJSW

REGISTRAR GENERAL

I certify that the person described in the First Schedule is the registered proprietor of an estate in fee simple (or such other estate or interest as in set forth in that Schedule) in the land within described subject to such esceptions, encombenees, interests and entries as appear in the Second Schedule and to any additional entries in the Folio of the Register.

LAND

LOT 11 IN DEPOSITED PLAN 735675 AT VERONA. LOCAL GOVERNMENT AREA: BEGA VALLEY. PARISH OF PUEN BUEN COUNTY OF AUCKLAND TITLE DIAGRAM: DP735675

FIRST SCHEDULE

BEGA VALLEY SHIRE COUNCIL

(T AH902449)

SECOND SCHEDULE

- 1. LAND EXCLUDES MINERALS AND IS SUBJECT TO RESERVATIONS AND CONDITIONS IN FAVOUR OF THE CROWN - SEE CROWN GRANT(S)
- 2. LAND EXCLUDES THE ROAD(S) SHOWN IN THE TITLE DIAGRAM
- 3 DP1180759 EASEMENT FOR ELECTRICITY PURPOSES 20 METRE(S) WIDE AFFECTING THE PART(S) SHOWN SO BURDENED IN DP1180759

**** END OF CERTIFICATE ****

5038254

Certificate of Title: Lot 11 DP 735675, Waterloo Creek Road, Brogo

BOX 1W (AG389235)

LAND

NEW SOUTH WALES CERTIFICATE OF TITLE REAL PROPERTY ACT, 1900

States and a state	1.6 REPERENCE
1/103	
ES ITION	DATE OF LISUR
1	25/7/2011

I certify that the person described in the First Schedule is the registered proprietor of an estate in fee simple (or such other estate or interest as is sof forth in that Schedule) in the land within described subject to such exceptions, encumbrances, interests and entries as appear in the Second Schedule and to any additional entries in the Folio of the Register.

REGISTRAR GENERAL



FIRST SCHEDULE BEGA VALLEY SHIRE COUNCIL

SECOND SCHEDULE

**** END OF CERTIFICATE ****

(CA157589)

AN CI

VARIABLE REPORT DRAFTING AND THE SAME A THE CONTRACT OF A DRAFT AND A DRAFT AN

4117466

5

Certificate of Title: Lot 1 DP 1037443, Cnr Imlay & Mitchell Streets, Eden



CALLER ASA

2.00

×



REAL PROPERTY ACT, 1900

THREAD TITL	E LEFERENCE
949/81	
ENTION -	DATE OF INFUT
5	25/7/2013
CONTINUEATE /	UTHEFT PLATICIN LODE
9WSN	-PL-39NV

I certify that the person described in the First Schedule is the registered proprietor of an estate in fee simple (or such other estate or intervat an in set forthin that Schedule) in the land within described subject to such exceptions, encumbrances, interstate and entries as appear in the Second Schedule and to any additional entries in the Folio of the Register.

REGISTRAR GENERAL



(T AH900598)

LAND

LOT 949 IN DEPOSITED PLAN 810986 AT MERIMBULA. LOCAL GOVERNMENT AREA: BEGA VALLEY. PARISH OF PAMBULA COUNTY OF AUCKLAND TITLE DIAGRAM: DP810986

FIRST SCHEDULE

BEGA VALLEY SHIRE COUNCIL

SECOND SCHEDULE

- 1. RESERVATIONS AND CONDITIONS IN THE CROWN GRANT (S)
- 2. EASEMENT(S) AFFECTING THE PART(S) SHOWN SO BURDENED IN THE TITLE DIAGRAM CREATED BY:
- DPB10986 FOR CAR PARKING VARIABLE WIDTH 3. EASEMENT(S) APPURTENANT TO THE LAND ABOVE DESCRIBED CREATED BY: DPB10986 RIGHT OF CARRIAGE WAY 6.98 WIDE
 - DP810986 TO DRAIN SEWAGE 6.98 WIDE DP810986 FOR SERVICES 6.98 WIDE

**** END OF CERTIFICATE ****

5035116

Certificate of Title: Lot 949 DP 810986, Main Street, Merimbula

9



sensitive and methods of an antitation cost result and radiated to find the sensitive of the block of a

4107178

Certificate of Title: Lot 299 DP 1151525, Snowy Mountains Highway, Numbugga



Certificate of Title: Lot 182 DP 1100739, Lake Street, Merimbula



Certificate of Title: Lot 14 DP 249924, Moore Wrens Road, Tarraganda

State Environme	ntal Planning Policy	Compliance
SEPP No. 1	Development Standard	N/A
SEPP No. 4	Development without Consent and Miscellaneous	N/A
	Exempt and Complying Development	
SEPP No. 6	Number of Storeys in a Building	N/A
SEPP No. 14	Coastal Wetlands	N/A
SEPP No. 15	Rural Land Sharing Communities	N/A
SEPP No. 19	Bushland in Urban Areas	N/A
SEPP No. 21	Caravan Parks	N/A
SEPP No. 22	Shops and Commercial Premises	N/A
SEPP No. 26	Littoral Rainforests	N/A
SEPP No. 29	Western Sydney Recreational Area	N/A
SEPP No. 30	Intensive Agriculture	N/A
SEPP No. 32	Urban Consolidation (Redevelopment of Urban Land)	N/A
SEPP No. 33	Hazardous and Offensive Development	N/A
SEPP No. 36	Manufactured Home Estates	N/A
SEPP No. 38	Olympic Games and Related Projects	N/A
SEPP No. 39	Spit Island Bird Habitat	N/A
SEPP No. 41	Casino/Entertainment Complex	N/A
SEPP No. 44	Koala Habitat Protection	N/A
SEPP No. 47	Moore Park Showground	N/A
SEPP No. 50	Canal Estate Development	N/A
SEPP No. 52	Farm Dams and Other Works in Land and Water	N/A
JEIT NO. 02	Management Plan Areas	
SEPP No. 53	Metropolitan Residential Development	N/A
SEPP No. 55	Remediation of Land	Consistent
SEPP No. 56	Sydney Harbour Foreshores and Tributaries	N/A
SEPP No. 59	Central Western Sydney Regional and Open Space	N/A
SELLE NO. 55	and Residential	
SEPP No. 60	Exempt and Complying Development	N/A
SEPP No. 62	Sustainable Aquaculture	Consistent
SEPP No. 64	Advertising and Signage	N/A
SEPP No. 65	Design Quality of Residential Flat Development	N/A
SEPP No. 70	Affordable Housing (Revised Schemes)	N/A
SEPP No. 71	Coastal Protection	Consistent
SEPP No. 74	Newcastle Port and Employment Lands	N/A
SEPP	Housing for Seniors or People with a Disability 2004	N/A
SEPP	Building Sustainability Index: BASIX 2004	N/A
SEPP	Major Development 2005	N/A
SEPP	Development on Kurnell Peninsula 2005	N/A
		N/A
SEPP	Sydney Region Growth Centres 2006 Mining, Petroleum Production and Extractive Industries	N/A
SEPP	2007	
SEPP	Infrastructure 2007	Consistent
SEPP	Temporary Structures 2007	N/A
SEPP	Kosciuszko National Park – Alpine Resorts 2007	N/A
SEPP	Rural Lands 2008	Consistent
SEPP	Affordable Rental Housing 2009	N/A
SEPP	Western Sydney Employment Area 2009	N/A
SEPP	Exempt and Complying Development Codes 2008	N/A
SEPP	Western Sydney Parklands 2009	N/A

Attachment 6: State Environmental Planning Policies

Section 117 Direction	Compliance
1. Employment and Resources	
1.1 Business and Industrial Zones	Consistent
1.2 Rural Zones	Consistent
1.3 Mining, Petroleum and Extractive Industries	N/A
1.4 Oyster Aquaculture	Consistent
1.5 Rural Lands	Consistent
2. Environment and Heritage	NUMBER OF STREET, STRE
2.1 Environment Protection Zone	Inconsistent
2.2 Coastal Protection	Consistent
2.3 Heritage Conservation	N/A
2.4 Recreation Vehicle Areas	N/A
3. Housing, Infrastructure and Urban Development	
3.1 Residential Zones	Consistent
3.2 Caravan Parks and Manufactured Home Estates	N/A
3.3 Home Occupations	N/A
3.4 Integrating Land Use and Transport	Consistent
3.5 Development Near Licensed Aerodromes	N/A
3.6 Shooting Ranges	N/A
4. Hazard and Risk	
4.1 Acid Sulphate Soils	N/A
4.2 Mine Subsidence and Unstable Land	N/A
4.3 Flood Prone Land	Consistent
4.4 Planning for Bushfire Protection	Consistent
5. Regional Planning	MARKAN DU WAR
5.1 Implementation of Regional Strategies	Consistent
5.2 Sydney Drinking Water Catchment	N/A
5.3 Farmland of State and Regional Significance on the NSW Far North Coast	N/A
5.4 Commercial and Retail Development along the Pacific Highway, North Coast	N/A
5.5 Second Sydney Airport: Badgerys Creek	N/A
6. Local Plan Making	the state of the second state
6.1 Approval and Referral Requirements	N/A
6.2 Reserving Land for Public Purposes	Inconsistent
6.3 Site Specific Provisions	Consistent
7. Metropolitan Planning	ANY BIATS IN SUMPLY A
7.1 Implementation of the Metropolitan Plan for Sydney 2036	N/A

Attachment 7: Section 117 Ministerial Directions